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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Corporate Information
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Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive Officer)
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Mr. Ye Jian

Mr. Liu Kam Lung

Independent Non-Executive Directors
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Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Megalogic Technology
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND
DEVELOPMENT

The previous high economic growth of the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”)
was shifted to sustainable development. According to the announcement
from the National Bureau of Statistics of China, PRC’s economic growth in
2015 was only 6.9%, which was the lowest growth in a quarter of a century.
The U.S. Federal Reserve has started raising interest rates in December
2015, more fluctuations in global markets were expected. By virtue of the
fluctuating demand and volatile industry landscape in integrated circuit (“IC”)
market, the Group recorded a decrease in its overall revenue, driven by the
decrease in sales of Electronic Cigarette ICs, LCD Driver ICs for instrument
panel and the DVD players ICs. The Group continued to enhance research
and development activities to diversify and improve its IC products and a
number of new ICs were introduced in 2015 to extend our portfolio. These
included LED Lighting Driver IC, Power Management IC, Electronic Cigarette
IC and DVD Player IC. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 16 new IC
models under development and customer evaluation. Certain customers took
prudent view in project investment and extended the process of evaluation,
acceptance and modification and therefore, the completion time of
development was prolonged.

As our money lending business moved towards sustainability, the past year
has proved rewarding and we achieved remarkable progress. With the
provision of efficient customer service and variety of loan products, our loan
portfolio and customer base are notably expanded for the year 2015. Our
loan receivables expanded strikingly from approximately HK$0.2 million in
December 2014 to approximately HK$86.4 milion in December 2015.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to seek for loan portfolio expansion
with a balanced risk and return framework.

ETREESF

AABEREREZESNEEERAG (AR
AEEe(([EFg) ERLARAREWNBA
Al (MBI A%EE])EHE2015F12A31H L F
ERIFIR -

EBEREHEBR

FEAREMBOHABE]DBENS RLEHE
BEDEAVUBELER BREFBEBEXRH
BAMBET B H2015F M K& EKLKIE
6.9% * R25F W NG IR o K B B HE B
BER2015F 12 ABME  HHRKM S
BEHEREES BREREE([EXEK])
MEMNTERRTIELT LR ESY BX
BREFEENEE HERREHAHLCDER
FEEKERIDWDEMBERERBEET
Bk RNEEERSEEEULA T o AN E 4 E
BMARRAE UNSEERERERRE
2B Z it HITRR2015F 5| A — R 53T
EXNERER SHMOERRINELEE -5
EMPELEDEX BRI REXNEE  EREE
ENER  BFEEKER RDVDEMREEK
T R2015F12 8318 A& E B 161E B
AEFRERBEFPTEEBEMNFTARENRSE
K- BETHEFPHBERABMBEEREILL
KA - BBRERMBE BmMSMAENT
P PRy [ 4% 3 3 o

BE—F BHRERMONEEBATRER
MER WUNSEROKERATEHER -
MREHEERENTEPRBEEZTIENERE
m BN EREE REPEBRMN2015F 15
LAKBHRE - MM EKREFH2014F12 A
HA02E BB TEERINE2015F12ABL
SBAEBEIT - BREHK AEEBRFEHR
S MEHRMIERTEHES KERERMES -

RAlENEEERAT 05
20155 3R



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FEHESE (B)

On 27 April 2015, the Group, Sichuen Hengrong Logistics Company Limited
and Chengdu Jinchenghang Logistics Company Limited agreed to terminate
a memorandum of understanding by virtue of insufficient materials and
information obtained during the due diligence exercise. On 5 February 2016
and 9 March 2016, the Group as the purchaser and Mr. Chung Pui Nam,
Roger as the vendor and being an independent third party of the Group
entered into a letter of intent and a sale and purchase agreement in relation to
the proposed acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of Maximus
Venture Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) for a consideration of an
aggregate sum of HK$27.5 milion. The Target Company is principally
engaged in the total solutions for information security services, including
security assessment, consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well as
system integration services of information security business in Hong Kong. As
of the date of this annual report, the acquisition of the Target Company has
not been completed.

As a result of the fluctuating demand in IC market and additional manpower
needs in relation to the business expansion and development, the loss of the
Group for the year 2015 was increased. We would like to share more details
of the Group’s performance, financial position and other information for the
year 2015 with shareholders in the following section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

In order to strengthen the general working capital base for business
development, the Group carried out fund raising activities for the year 2015.
On 3 June 2015, the Group completed the placing of 57,600,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company at the placing price of HK$0.34 per placing
share. The net proceeds from the placing are approximately HK$19.1 million.
On 16 December 2015, the Group raised approximately HK$207.4 million by
way of an open offer of 1,036,800,000 offer shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.2 per offer share on the basis of three offer shares for every one
share held. The net proceeds reinforce the expansion of our money lending
business and development of the IC business. After these fund raising
activities, we also have greater flexibility to strengthen our existing businesses
and explore other suitable business opportunities to improve the Group’s
profitability. For details of the business progress and use of proceeds, please
refer to the following section of “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to continuing to maintain high standards of corporate
governance and all board committees have effectively supported the Board in
carrying out its responsibilities. The Board will persist to explore new business
opportunities to maximize the long term interests for the shareholders as a
whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere thanks to the
valuable contribution from our management team. | would also like to express
my gratitude to all staff for their hard work in the execution of the Group’s
strategies and operations during the past year. Last but not least, | wish to
thank all shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and bankers
for their continuous support and confidence in the Group.

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE D

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group continues to engage in
integrated circuit (“IC”) business, specialized in design, development and
sales of ICs, as well as the provision of IC solutions. Following the acquisition
of a money lending company in mid-2014, the Group is also involved in the
money lending business in Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

IC Business

Through its wholly-owned fabless semiconductor subsidiary, MiniLogic Device
Corporation Limited, the Group sells IC under its own brand name “MiniLogic”
and provides application specific IC service (“ASIC Service”) in design and
development of tailor-made IC to its customers. The Group also provides
tailor-made IC solutions and sells tailor-made ICs to customers under the
ASIC Service business section (the “ASIC Section”);
develops and sells generically-applicable ICs for sale in the market under the
MiniLogic Brand IC business section (the “Standard IC Section”).

and independently

Over the past year, the Group has made continuous progress in research and
development (“R&D”). In 2015, 5 new IC models were completed and
launched as follows:
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Section Product Name Period of development Period of sale
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ASIC MP1402 PMU for Power Bank July 2014 to September 2015 September 2015 to present
MP140271T8) E R BEA BIRE IR 201457 A £20154%9 A 201559 E%S

ASIC MP1407 DVD Player PMU July 2014 to May 2015 May 2015 to present
MP1407 DVD#E e E R ERE 12 201457 A £20154%5 A 201565 &E %S

ASIC MP1408 Candle Light LED Driver July 2014 to September 2015 September 2015 to present
MP1408 /& ¥ LED & &) 28 2014%7 A E2015F9 A 2015F9RES

ASIC MP1404(XM7800) Electronic Cigar January 2015 to November 2015 November 2015 to present
MP1404(XM7800) & F & 201591 A £2015F 11 A 2015F 11 A =45

ASIC MP1412 Bluetooth Speaker PMU January 2015 to September 2015 September 2015 to present
MP1412E T RN HEHEIRE R 201541 H £201549 A 2015F9R &S
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The R&D teams also deployed 7 more new IC models but terminated 2 during
the year. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 16 new IC models under
development and customer evaluation. The completion of the development of
several new IC models has been extended as the process was prolonged
due to customer evaluation, acceptance and modification work. Developing
IC products with suitable technology that appeal to the market is essential for
the growth of IC business. This can also expand the range of the Group’s
products and maintain the Group’s competitiveness.

ASIC Section

Under the ASIC Section, the major products are Electronic Cigarette ICs,
DVD Player ICs, Power Management ICs and CCD Surveillance System ICs.
There were 5 new IC models launched in 2015. The launch of a new model in
the second half of 2014 was once beneficial to the revenue and margin of
Power Management ICs, the effect was weakened since the second quarter
of 2015. In addition, we faced downward pressure in both revenue and selling
price for our DVD Player ICs due to fluctuating demand. Revenue from our
Electronic Cigarette ICs was also significantly affected by the volatile industry
landscape. Demand for our CCD Surveillance System ICs was still weak in
2015.

Besides, due to the stagnant demand in the IC industry, revenue from the
provision of ASIC Service decreased by 67.0% from approximately HK$2.6
million in 2014 to approximately HK$0.9 million in 2015, Due to the substantial
decrease in revenue from the ASIC Service and ASIC products, particularly
Electronic Cigarette ICs, the overall revenue from ASIC section notably
dropped by 55.4% from approximately HK$43.8 million in 2014 to
approximately HK$19.5 million in 2015.

Standard IC Section

Under the Standard IC Section, the major products are LCD Driver ICs for
instrument panel, Power Management ICs and LED Lighting Driver ICs. No
new IC model was launched in 2015, due to prolonged stagnant and
lacklustre demand in new type of standard IC products. For LED Lighting
Driver ICs, the Group is developing more series of LED Lighting Driver ICs
with the expectation to attract more customers’ order in LED Lighting market
in the near future. With increasing competition, the market sentiment for the
LCD Diriver ICs for instrument panel and Power Management ICs was
worsening during the year, leading to downward adjustment in selling prices
and decline in revenue. Accordingly, the overall revenue from the Standard IC
Section were decreased significantly by 50.0% from approximately HK$8.3
million in 2014 to approximately HK$4.2 million in 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEB W RN ()

Money Lending Business

Through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Easy Loan Finance Limited,
which owned a money lender license in Hong Kong, the Group engages in
the money lending business, such as secured and unsecured loans to
customers comprising individuals and corporations to earn interest income
since the third quarter of 2014. In 2015, the Group put more efforts and
resources to develop this business. With the provision of efficient customer
service and variety of loan products, we managed to achieve remarkable
progress and the total return on loans of the Group for the year 2015 was 6.4%
(2014: 3.5%). The Group’s loan receivables, which are repayable according
to repayment schedules with contractual maturity ranging from 6 months to
12 years, increased significantly from approximately HK$0.2 million as at 31
December 2014 to approximately HK$86.4 million as at 31 December 2015.
Accordingly, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$5.5 million
in 2015. The revenue in 2014 was insignificant as the money lending business
was just commenced at that time.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Below is an analysis of our key financial indicators including, but not limited to
revenue, cost of sales, gross profit and cost to income ratio, which reflected
the financial position of the business.

Revenue, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The total revenue of the Group decreased significantly by 43.9% from
approximately HK$52.1 million in 2014 to approximately HK$29.2 million in
2015. The decrease was mainly due to the abovementioned decrease in
revenues from the IC business, partially offset by the revenue contributed by
the money lending business.

Cost of sales of the Group solely related to the IC business decreased by
51.0% from approximately HK$40.9 million in 2014 to approximately HK$20.0
million in 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The gross profit of the ASIC Section decreased by 71.5% from approximately
HK$7.7 million in 2014 to approximately HK$2.2 million in 2015, and gross
profit margin of the ASIC Section was 11.2% in 2015, representing a
decrease of 6.4 percentage points from 17.6% in 2014. The drop in gross
profit margin of ASIC Section was mainly due to the above mentioned decline
in revenue of ASIC Service, which had a higher margin, and the downward
pressure in selling prices of ASIC products. The gross profit of the Standard
IC Section dropped significantly by 58.2% from approximately HK$3.6 million
in 2014 to approximately HK$1.5 million in 2015, and the gross profit margin
of Standard IC Section was 35.6% in 2015, representing a drop of 7.0
percentage points from 42.6% in 2014. The drop in gross profit margin of
Standard IC Section was mainly attributable to the aforesaid downward
adjustment in selling prices and decline in revenue from certain higher margin
Standard IC products. The overall gross profit of the Group decreased by
18.1% from approximately HK$11.3 million in 2014 to approximately HK$9.2
million in 2015, and the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 31.5%,
representing an increase of 9.9 percentage points from 21.6% in 2014. The
overall gross profit margin improved as the drop in margin of IC business,
including the ASIC Section and Standard IC Section, was more than offset by
the money lending business, which had a higher margin.

Expenses

Staff costs increased by 17.9% from approximately HK$9.0 million in 2014 to
approximately HK$10.7 million in 2015. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in general pay rise and that more experienced and
senior staffs recruited during the year to cope with the business development.

Operating lease rentals increased by 18.5% from approximately HK$1.0
million in 2014 to approximately HK$1.2 million in 2015, which was mainly
due to the opening of new offices in Hong Kong and the PRC since mid-
2014,

Depreciation decreased by 10.8% from approximately HK$1.6 million in 2014
to approximately HK$1.4 milion in 2015, mainly because certain old
instruments had been fully depreciated in 2014, partially offset by the
depreciation of newly acquired instruments.

Other operating expenses decreased by 42.6% from approximately HK$8.3
million in 2014 to approximately HK$4.8 million in 2015. The decrease was
mainly attributable to less spending on design and development costs and
related expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
2015 was approximately HK$8.9 million. For the year 2014, the consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$7.7
million. The increase was mainly due to the aforesaid fall in gross profit and
increase in staff costs were substantially offset by the drop in other operating
expenses.

Cost to income ratio

The cost to income ratio of the Group (expenses/revenue) was 61.9% in
2015, representing a rise of 23.6 percentage points from 38.3% in 2014. The
rise in its ratio was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue from the IC
business.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

Reliance on a few key customers

The Group’s ability to maintain close relationships with its customers is
important to its ongoing growth and profitability. Although the Group’s
revenue from specific customers vary from period to period, a significant
portion of the Group’s total revenue was derived from a few major customers
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the corresponding period in last
year. The five largest customers accounted for approximately 61.4% and
79.4% of the Group’s revenue while the largest customer accounted for
approximately 23.8% and 37.0% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively. The Group has established its
business relationship with the largest customer, which is an independent third
party (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) principally engaged in sales and
production of electronic devices and components, since 2006. However, as
the Group does not enter into long term or master sales contracts with its
major customers, there is no assurance that they will continue to purchase
products from the Group at the same level as they have done in the past.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$188.7 million (2014: HK$57.2 million) and did not have any
borrowings, banking facilities or any loan arrangement containing any
covenant. The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2015 was
12,844.0% (31 December 2014: 1,861.7%), reflecting the fact that the
liquidity of the Group remained healthy. The gearing ratio calculated as the
ratio of total interest-bearing debt to total asset was nil as at 31 December
2015 (31 December 2014: nil). Taking into account the cash reserves and the
net proceeds from placing and open offer of the Company’s shares in June
2015 and December 2015, the Group’s financial position is healthy, enabling
the Group advantageously to expand its core business and to achieve its
business objectives.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the Group did not have
any charges on its assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
currency exchange risk. The Group has not implemented any foreign currency
hedging policy at the moment. However, continuous monitoring on the
foreign exchange exposure is carried out by the management and the
management will consider hedging against significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities or capital
commitment as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no significant
investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014, nor were there other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
by the Group during these years. Apart from those disclosed in this annual
report, there was no other plan authorised by the Board for other material
investments or additions of capital assets at the date of this report (2014 nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group has approximately 18 (2014: 20) employees as at 31 December
2015. The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market
practice and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification and
experience of individual employee. We recognise the importance of a good
relationship with our employees. The remuneration payable to our employees
includes salaries and allowances. Other benefits include training and
discretionary bonus.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has minimised the operation impact on the environment and
natural resource. During 2015, the Group has collected recycled papers and
used it as key printing materials. Also for the energy saving practices in
offices, the Group will use Hong Kong Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department certified electricity consumption appliances to reduce electricity
consumption, and will replace lighting fixtures with LED lighting or T5
fluorescent tubes where possible.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such requirements could
lead to the termination of operating licences. The Group has been allocating
system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and
regulations and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators
effectively through effective communications. During the year under review,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and other relevant
rules and regulations.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN
USE OF PROCEEDS

On 3 June 2015, a total of 57,600,000 new ordinary shares (with the
aggregate nominal value of HK$57.6 million) of the Company of HK$0.1 each
were successfully issued under the general mandate from shareholders and
placed to not less than six placees, who are independent individual, corporate
and/or institutional investors and their ultimate beneficial owners are
independent third parties, at the placing price of HK$0.34 per placing share
which represented a discount of approximately 10.5% to the closing price of
the share of the Company on 18 May 2015. The net proceeds from this
placing were approximately HK$19.1 million, which had been intended to be
used by the Company for general working capital of the Group and/or
financing future investment opportunities.

The directors had considered various ways of raising funds and believed that
the placing represented an opportunity to raise capital for the Company while
broadening the shareholder’s base and capital base of the Company. The
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2015 is:

Net proceeds Intended use of the net proceeds
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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On 7 August 2015, the Company has changed its allocation of use of net
proceeds in relation to the placing as set out in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 December 2011. Approximately HK$12.3 million of the
net placing proceeds has been reallocated for general working capital of the
Group. Details of the change in allocation of use of net placing proceeds are
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 August 2015.

The utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2015 is:

Intended use of the net proceeds

Net proceeds after change in allocation
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Utilisation of the net proceeds
up to 31 December 2015

FRBRERER REFIWMZABREZEEEAR BZE2015F12A31BLFIBREFEZEA
Approximately Approximately HK$12.3 million will be used for The entire net proceeds have been used for
HK$12.3 million general working capital of the Group general working capital of the Group
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LEED

On 16 December 2015, the Company completed the open offer to raise
approximately HK$207.4 million (before costs and expenses) by way of an
open offer of 1,036,800,000 offer shares at the subscription price of HK$0.20
per offer share on the basis of three offer shares for every one share held on
the record date, 24 November 2015, on the terms pursuant to the
underwriting agreement dated 25 August 2015 (the “Underwriting
Agreement”) entered into among the Company, China Rise Securities Asset
Management Company Limited and Metro Classic Limited relating to the
underwriting and other arrangement in respect of the open offer (the “Open
Offer”). Details of the Open Offer and the completion of the open offer are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 1 September 2015, 21
September 2015, 29 September 2015, 9 October 2015 and 16 December
2015, the Company’s circular dated 16 October 2015 and the Company’s
listing document dated 25 November 2015 respectively. The net proceeds
raised upon completion after deduction of relevant costs and expenses were
approximately HK$199 million. The net proceeds has been intended to use (i)
approximately HK$169 million to fund the expansion of the money lending
business of the Group; (i) approximately HK$20 million for the development
of the IC business of the Group; and (i) approximately HK$10 million for the
general working capital for the other existing businesses of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The directors had considered various ways of raising funds and believed that
the Open Offer represented an opportunity to raise capital for the Company
while broadening the shareholder’s base and capital base of the Company.
The utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2015 is:

Net proceeds

Intended use of the net proceeds
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Utilisation of the net proceeds
up to 31 December 2015

FBRERERE FEREFEREAR BZE2015F 12831 A LB REBREZFEH
Approximately (i) Approximately HK$169 million will be used for (i) Approximately HK$16.9 million has been
HK$199 million the expansion of the money lending business used for the expansion of the money lending
#1998 8BE T of the Group business of the Group

(i)

(i)
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Approximately HK$20 million will be used for
the development of the IC business of the
Group
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Approximately HK$10 million will be used as
general working capital for the other existing
businesses of the Group
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(i) None of the net proceeds has been utilised
for the development of the IC business of the
Group
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(i) Approximately HK$0.9 million has been
utilised for working capital for the other
existing businesses of the Group
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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LETTER OF INTENT IN RELATION TO THE
PROPOSED ACQUISITION

On 5 February 2016 and 9 March 2016, the Group as the purchaser and Mr.
Chung Pui Nam, Roger as the vendor and being an independent third party
of the Group entered into a letter of intent and a sale and purchase agreement
in relation to the proposed acquisition of 55% of the issued share capital of
Maximus Venture Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”) for a consideration
of an aggregate sum of HK$27.5 million. The Target Company is principally
engaged in the total solutions for information security services, including
security assessment, consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well as
system integration services of information security business in Hong Kong. As
of the date of this annual report, the acquisition of the Target Company has
not been completed.

Details of the proposed acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 February 2016 and 9 March 2016 respectively.

OUTLOOK

The crash of the PRC stock market and the shock devaluation of Renminbi in
the second half of 2015 fueled more uncertainty in the economy of the PRC
and casted greater doubts on whether its economy had bottomed out. The
PRC economic growth in 2015 slide to 6.9% only which was the lowest
growth in a quarter of a century. There were raising concerns that the
sluggish PRC economy could spill over to the regional economy and even
disrupt the recovery of the United States and Europe. Triggered by such
unstable and uncertain economic environment, market demand for our I1C
service and products becomes more and more fluctuating and volatile. This in
turn exerts a downward pressure on our IC business. Looking ahead, we wil
continue to closely monitor the development of our IC business and optimize
our resources to cope with the challenging environment.

We understand prolonged unfavourable development in the IC business could
adversely affect the performance of the Group. As such, the Group has put
more effort to diversify our sources of revenue to mitigate such impact.
Leveraged on the experience of newly recruited staff, we have already
achieved noteworthy progress in our newly developed money lending
business and our loan portfolio and customer base have notably expanded
during the reporting period. Going forward, we will continue to divert more
attention and resources to develop the money lending business so as to
enlarge its operation and expand the business portfolio of the Group.
Considering the recent economic condition, the management will prudently
look for any suitable business opportunities in future to broaden the sources
of our revenues and cash inflows, taking into account the funding requirement
and associated business risk.
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Corporate Governance Report

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to
present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December
2015.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability and
corporate governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the interests
of shareholders of the Group.

The Board has continued to monitor and review the corporate governance
principles and practices to ensure compliance. The Company has adopted
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code and has complied with the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2015, except the following
deviations:

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

1. Mr. Ye Jian (being a Non-Executive Director at the relevant time) was
unable to attend the annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015 and 12 November 2015
respectively as he was obliged to be away for his business matter; and

2. Mr. Ko Yin Wai (being an Independent Non-Executive Director at the
relevant time) was unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 12 November 2015 as he was obliged to be
away for his business matter.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERBRSE (B)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven directors including two Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) and Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief
Executive Officer), two Non-Executive Directors namely Mr. Ye Jian and Mr.
Liu Kam Lung and three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai. An updated
list of Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether they are
Independent Non-Executive Directors has been published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively. The profiles of the
Directors are set out in the section “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

As announced by the Company, Mr. Li Kwei Chung retired from office as an
Executive Director from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 30 April 2015 (the “2015 AGM”) and he also resigned as
the Chief Executive Officer and the Compliance Officer of the Company with
effect from the conclusion of the 2015 AGM; Mr. Chan Sun Kwong retired
from office as an Independent Non-Executive Director from the conclusion of
the 2015 AGM and he also ceased to be the chairman of the Company’s
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee at
the same time; Mr. Zhang Qing, the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company, was appointed as the Compliance Officer of the
Company with effect from 30 April 2015 to fill the vacancy following the
abovementioned resignation of Mr. Li Kwei Chung; Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo,
an Executive Director and Joint Company Secretary of the Company, was
promoted from Chief Financial Officer to Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from 30 April 2015 to fill the vacancy following the
abovementioned resignation of Mr. Li Kwei Chung; and Mr. Cheung Chi Man
Dennis was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company and the chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2015 AGM following the abovementioned retirement of Mr.
Chan Sun Kwong.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (E)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, four regular Board meetings and

HZE2015F12A31BILFE BREMEZE R

eight other Board meetings were held in addition to circulation of written EZI HBIT TAXREEZT S EH €5 L8X
resolution. The attendance record of individual Directors to the Board and the H M EF & @ - # £2015F 12 A31H IF F
committee mestings during the year ended 31 December 2015 are shown [E  AjlZEEREEe L EaeecZNEF

below: e
Attendance record of meetings held in 2015
R2015FRETHEEHFELTH
Extraordinary
Annual General General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REEBH BRRBERE BRRENAE Exg ERZERET FMERE REEEE
In number (in %)  In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %)
RE(BAE)  RE(BEAE) RE(E L) RE(A L) RE(EB L) RB(BEIHK)
Total Number of Meetings 1 1 12 6 2 2
EERBLEY (Note 4)
(ffx4)
Number of Meetings attended/Total
HESBRE EH
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) 11 11 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
REXE(EE) 100% 100% (100%) T iE A i A iE A
Mr. Li Kwei Chung (Note 1) 11 N/A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
FREBLE (M) (100%) TEA (100%) Ti#E A TiEm TER
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive
Officer) 11 11 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
RERE L (FTHAEH) (100%) (100%) (100%) TiE R TiE A TE R
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERBRSE (B)

Attendance record of meetings held in 2015 (Continued)

R2015F RETHEE HFE L& ()

Extraordinary

Annual General General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REER BRRBFRE BRRBHIAE EEg #ERZEE FHEEEs REZEES
In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) In number (in %) Innumber (in %) In number (in %)
RE(BAL) RE(ESIL) KB(EIL) K&#HEIL) K#(EHEL) KB(EHL)
Non-Executive Directors
FHUTES
Mr. Ye Jian 01 01 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
e (0%) (0%) (100%) i A TiER T iE A
Mr. Liu Kam Lung 11 11 12/12 N/A N/A N/A
BeELE 100% 100% (100%) T A T A TERB
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Sun Kwong (Note 2) 11 N/A 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
R = 5 A& (FTEE2) (100%) NiE A (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Ko Yin Wai 11 01 11/12 6/6 2/2 2/2
aEREE (100%) (0%) (92%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang 11 11 12/12 6/6 2/2 2/2
R R RE (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (Note 3) N/A 11 8/8 4/4 N/A N/A
RS (HT5E3) TiE A (100%) (100%) (100%) TiE A TiE
Notes: [T

Mr. Li Kwei Chung retired from office as an Executive Director from the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015
(the “2015 AGM”) and he also resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and the
Compliance Officer of the Company with effect from the conclusion of the 2015
AGM.

Mr. Chan Sun Kwong retired from office as an Independent Non-Executive
Director from the conclusion of the 2015 AGM and he also ceased to be the
chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee at the same time.

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company and the chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2015 AGM.

The Board held four regular Board meetings and eight other full Board meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management of
Company’s business and is collectively responsible for the Company’s affair
under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should make
decision objectively in the interests of the Company.

The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making

decisions on the following matters:

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Setting the corporate goals of the Group and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

Diversification and extension of activities into new business area;

Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

Dividend policy;

Material acquisitions and disposal;

Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;

Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.

ﬁ%kk \Aiﬁ [mm] (n\a)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (E)

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY
POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 30 August 2013.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually and
regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition will not
result in any undue interference. The Board members should possess
appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing
duties and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member of the
Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review the policy
concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including any
quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

During the year of 2015, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board
and considered the Board composition and diversity policy appropriate.

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management (the
“Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into
any significant transactions by the above mentioned officers.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and
making decisions on the following matters:

(i) Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;

(i) Strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i)  Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv)  Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(v} Managing the Group’s day to day business.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors; and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors has made an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors were
independent during the year.

All Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors by the Company.

Save as otherwise disclosed herein, there is no family or other material
relationship among members of the Board.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including Independent Non-Executive Directors, should keep
abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses
and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings and other
training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and
updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

ﬁ%kk \Aiﬁ [mm] (n\a)

A@E’Jﬁ g/\{

BRELTIERETER

) BETHEFSHEAEENBRRME

B

(i) HRETRAES KB

(i) HBEHABMBEZNEREERWBHE
&
R B0 B 7 4% I

(v BYEZHZ
£
v AEENHEHEEBER-

A YA 2

ARAERESRBUFNTES HbhED
—HABEENEXER AT RAENE
BEBRER  ETRIFER LT8R A55.051)
Rk - 8BBIUFATEFTSREAERLE
THRAES09KZRE  NEHERELFEZ

BIYME BARARRAEBILIFATES
RERNYR/BILAL -
$Qn RABNHEZTURNRRBERT

EHAMBBUIFNTESTSND

BrARE S B AWEIN
BRBAEMEKNER -

ExgX B8 cEM

FEEXER

MEER(BRBIIFATESR) BREEE
EREENERBRERAEENEB LD
A o 78 & B 71 52 (1 £ o I H 35 9 A SR Ko
EHEFOMBMNZEE  WIRHBREAIERKR
AR EMEREEREZRHFALT
EREF BRETEEARFHRHLE
ERBMRIERM -

RASNEEERAT 25
20155 3R



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERBRSE (B)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Directors provided their
training record to the Company in respect of their participation in training &) 32 ft & B4 52
activities such as attending seminars relevant to their duties and

responsibilities as directors of a listed company, particulars of which are as &) - BT :

follows:

HE2016F12A31BIEFERN EFRAARQD
HIE B 2 52358 8% (5 a0 B
EREALTRARAZEENBEMNECOH

Reading Attending
materials the seminar
relevant to Attending relevant to
directors’ the seminar the skill of
duties and provided by the the Director’s
responsibilities Company position
HEAR HEHES
EESRER HEHAEAF BR3¢ B
BEEzERN RHzZHFE HBEZWHHS
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) v v v
REKE(FE)
Mr. Li Kwei Chung (Note 1) 4 - -
AL A (1)
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive Officer) 4 v v
RIGRIE T (THAEE)
Non-Executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Ye Jian v v —
HEEE
Mr. Liu Kam Lung v v v
BeELE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BIYKHTES
Mr. Chan Sun Kwong (Note 2) v v 4
BR = ok 52 A& (M5 2)
Mr. Ko Yin Wai v v —
SBELE
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang v 4 v
LR HE
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (Note 3) v v v
oR 7 305 A (BT RE3)
Notes: P 5 -

1. Mr. Li Kwei Chung retired from office as an Executive Director from the 1. FTEBEEEBARRQFR2015F4H308 £17

conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015
(the “2015 AGM”) and he also resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and the
Compliance Officer of the Company with effect from the conclusion of the 2015

AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

2. Mr. Chan Sun Kwong retired from office as an Independent Non-Executive
Director from the conclusion of the 2015 AGM and he also ceased to be the
chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee at the same time.

3. Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company and the chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the 2015 AGM.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board of the Company is Mr. Zhang Qing. Since 30 April
2015, Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo has become the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company to fill the vacancy following the resignation of Mr. Li Kwei Chung.
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separated and
not executed by the same individual to prevent power concentration on any
one individual. The Chairman is primarily responsible for managing the Board,
whereas the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for overseeing the
various businesses of the Group. Their respective roles and responsibilities
are summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the Chairman include:

(i) leading the Board and ensuring that the Board functions effectively and
smoothly;

(ii) chairing the Board and shareholder’s meetings;

(i)  approving the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors and
the Company Secretary for inclusion in the agenda;

(iv)  ensuring that all Directors receive all relevant information prior to each
meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings;

(v)  ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely and constructive manner;

(vi)  encouraging all Directors, including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors, to actively participate in all Board and Board Committees
meetings and promoting a culture of openness for the Directors to
share and voice their concerns on all matters during each meeting;

(vii)  ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and followed; and
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (E)

(vii) taking appropriate steps to provide effective communication with  (vii) HEGEE LB EKREIRMEE R BB
shareholders and to ensure that shareholders’ view are communicated BRRERNBEEEREELESS -
to the Board as a whole.

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer include: THEBHNBEE
(i) implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board,; (i) ETHEEZoH T AEENHEMSE
B
(i) strategic planning of different business and functions; (ii) FKETRE M ER LB
(i) closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with (i) X BRI EIMBEEZ Y ER S ER I K%
plans and budgets; i

(v)  assuming full accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s  (iv) A3 35 & & & ¥ 7K & B & 757 H #) 2 7% M
operations and performance; KEMEEET

(v maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the other () RIFEFFENHMEZILTEEYHE

Directors;

(v)  developing and leading an effective executive team; vy BERMBE—BAUERNITHEE

(vii)  putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in - (viiy 2 37 i & ) & & 2| A0 BF 75 12 4 &)
place; and B &

(vii) representing the Company and managing the Group’s day to day (i) REAAFTRAEENE B EKEIE -

business.
APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF EEZERER
DIRECTORS

All the Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive Directors) are A ZH(BIEB I IEHNITEE)NEZETVH
appointed for an initial term of one year and subject to retrement by rotation  {FHi A — 4% - W/ARIE A A 7 =12 40 8 8 &

and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of EBEFERFABERER RERFAEARS I
association. At each annual general meeting, not less than one third of the R AUR=H —FBEEETNEFTEBET ME
Directors then in office shall retire and every Director is subject to retirement ZZEHEBEHFLEH=FHERT K-

by rotation at least once every three years.

All existing Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or fee per H R B E S AR S A ESRBE T ASE X F
annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject to the % .G EEZNEH M T i BRHEZToRRE
annual review of the Board with reference to his contribution in terms of time,  H R EE - B AR HEBENHETH
effort and his expertise. = o
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred
during the performance of their duties to the Company and are eligible for
share options under the share option scheme of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee, all
with specific terms of reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities
of the respective board committees. All board committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity with the requirements of the
CG Code which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, with all
members being Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company in full
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, six audit committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 21 to 22 of this annual
report.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include the following:

() Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal;
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TRERBRSE (B)

to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditors the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;
and

to develop and implement policy on engaging the external
auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external
auditors” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee should
report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations on
any matters where action or improvement is needed.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual report
and accounts, half-year report and quarterly reports of the
Company, and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them. In reviewing these reports and accounts
before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should
focusing particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2)  major judgmental areas;

(8)  significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(6)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Regarding (ii)(a) above,

(1)  members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management, and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the external auditors;
and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
reports and accounts and should give due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, compliance officer or the external
auditors.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control
procedures

(@)

to review the financial controls, and unless expressly addressed
by a separate Board risk management and internal control
committee, or by the Board itself, to review the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that the management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and the management’s response to these findings;

to ensure co-ordination between the external professional and
the external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of
the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review the management letter of the external auditors, any
material queries raised by the external auditors to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and the management’s response;

TRERBRSE (B)
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TRERBRSE (B)

(99 to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the management letter of the external auditors;

(h)y  to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules;

(i) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

() to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The Audit
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

(k) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditors.

Major accomplishments in 2015 comprised the following:

@)

reviewed the quarterly, half-yearly and annually results of the Group as
well as discussed and reviewed financial and other reports for the year;

reviewed the external auditors’ significant findings and management’s
response to the recommendation raised;

reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and the adequacy of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions of the Group;

reviewed and approved the external auditors’ statutory audit scope for
2015 and the letter of representation to be given by the Board;

considered and approved the 2015 external audit fees and engagement
letters;

monitored the audit and non-audit services rendered to the Group by
its external auditor and ensures their engagement in other non-audit
services, if any, will not impair their audit independence or objectivity;
and

revised the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and recommended approval to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirement of the CG Code. In accordance with provisions set out in the CG
Code are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, two remuneration committee
meetings were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 21 to
22 of this annual report.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee includes:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(ii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goal and objectives;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, person rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
executive directors;

(v)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;
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TEERRE (E)

(vi)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or remove of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

(viiij  to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

Major accomplishments in 2015 comprised the following:

0} reviewed matters relating to the existing remuneration packages and
emoluments of Directors and senior management;

(ii) considered and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy with
reference to time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and
the senior management, desirability of performance-based
remuneration; and

(i) considered matters relating to the remuneration arrangement of retired
Directors and the remuneration of newly appointed Director.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Remuneration Bands
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the CG
Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 21 to 22 of this
annual report.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee includes:

i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the Chairman and the chief executive of the Company; and

(v)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why the
Nomination Committee believes he should be elected and the reasons
why the Nomination Committee considers him to be independent.
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TEERRE (E)

Major accomplishments in 2015 comprised the following:

(i) recommended to the Board with respect to the retirement and re-
election of Directors at the last annual general meeting held on 30 April
2015; and

(i) recommended to the Board the appointment of Mr. Cheung Chi Man

Dennis as an Independent Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of

the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board held two meetings for the purpose of reviewing the compliance of
corporate governance policies for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The duties of the Board include:

(i) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the CG Report.

Major accomplishments in 2015 comprised the following:

(i) evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made appropriate amendments;

(i) arranged the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management; and

(i) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure

in the Corporate Governance Report.

36 Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

R2015F X ZERNEHEBIEATSIE

() MRMEFLRHIR2015F48308L272
th%ﬂiﬁAiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁé
EMEZ

HEFERIZAFREXLEAARA
BYRATEERNEZZES FTHE
EeNRELEG I ERMER

(i)

ERERMBEE

EEeaEToXEAR TR ZTAME
DI1GM#E 2 EXEERBEA -

XFH

HZE20156F12A31BLtFERN EF 2
MrEERRRZE

otE
STIERBIT2REE -

Exg RARRE

) HIEREIRNEENEEEARRENE
BoYRAEFSRELES:

i) BAREREEREMEEABNEI
RSEEXER

iy BARERAEEEETERREER
ENHENBERER

v HE RILEREEREFEMRNR

SEARARTM: R

v BEAAEBETLETATINBRIR
ELETAREANNWE -
R2015F X ZBERNEEBIEUNTNSHE

) FEAKRENEEEARRERER I
EHEEERS

ZHEELEREEASNE
EXER R

(i) Bl I F5 4B

SO RAYN SERERTUREE
mﬁ%WZﬁ%°

g

(iii)



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

AUDITORS

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditors to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to
approximately HK$720,000 and HK$60,000 respectively. The non-audit
service represented service fees for the annual review of internal control and
other non-audit services.

The accounts for the year 2015 were audited by JH CPA Alliance Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
JH CPA Alliance Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and true
and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern as at 31 December 2015. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statement is set out in the section of
“Independent Auditors’ Report” contained in this annual report.
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TRERBRSE (B)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company improves its business and operational activities by identifying
the areas of significant business risks via a regular review and taking
appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management
of the Company reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain and review
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. The Company does not have internal audit department, but the
Audit Committee is responsible to review of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system. In the year under review, JH CPA Alliance Limited
as independent consultant, has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control systems of the Group, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions. In
addition, there is regular dialogue between the Audit Committee and the
Group’s external auditors so that both are aware of the significant factors
which may affect their respective scope of work.

Audit Committee reviewed the internal control system in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2015 by reference to the internal control review report
issued by JH CPA Alliance Limited and considered the system effective and
adequate. The Board conducted a review of the internal control system of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015,
including financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control by
considering the reviews performed by JH CPA Alliance Limited. The Company
complies with the code provisions relating to internal control contained in the
CG Code for the year ended December 2015.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2015, the Joint Company Secretaries were Dr. Sung Tak
Wing Leo and Ms. Chan Lok Yin, an external service provider. Dr. Sung Tak
Wing Leo is the contact person of external services provider.

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the Joint Company Secretaries of
the Company are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

A written record had been received by the Company from Dr. Sung Tak Wing
Leo and Ms. Chan Lok Yin to confirm that each of them took not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2015. The Company is of the view that Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo and Ms. Chan
Lok Yin have complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are subject to the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), and the applicable legislation and regulation, in
particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), to require an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition pursuant to
Article 58 of the Articles; and

(ii) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
herself/themselves may do so, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by
the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Apart from sending email to info@megalogic.com.hk, shareholders may send
their enquiries and concemns to the Board by addressing them to the
headquarter and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 2101, 21/F., Chinachem Century Tower, 178 Gloucester Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 2539 0323, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions at the
general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman Islands.
However, pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may by means of requisition convene an EGM following the
procedures set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These include
the annual general meeting, the annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at www.
megalogic.com.hk.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

During the vyear, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEBAENEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Qing, aged 46, is an executive director and Chairman of the
Board of the Company with effect from 1 July 2014 and was appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company with effect from 30 April 2015. He was
appointed as an investor relations officer of the Company since 18 March
2014. Mr. Zhang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Guangzhou Institute
of Foreign Trade* (BE/N%I4MNE HEBR) (currently known as Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies (E R 4MEYNE A E2) in the People’s Republic of
China in July 1991 and further obtained a master's degree in business
administration from San Diego State University in the United States in
December 1998. From July 1991 to July 1996, he worked as the foreign
sales staff of China National Light Industrial Products Import & Export
Corporation*. From February 2000 to November 2003, Mr. Zhang worked as
the manager of investment department of Sichuan Harmony Enterprises (Group)
Limited*. From July 2006 to February 2013, he worked as the investment
manager of Canada Shenghe Investment Inc. Besides, Mr. Zhang acted as
the director of Sichuan Harmony Enterprises (Group) Limited* during the
period from 8 March 2011 to 12 September 2013.

The English translation of names or any descriptions in Chinese which are marked with “*”
is for identification purpose only.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo, aged 55, previously an independent non-executive
director of the Company, was re-designated as an executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2014. He was appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company with effect from 24 December 2014 and was promoted from
chief financial officer to the chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 30 April 2015. Dr. Sung is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Dr. Sung is responsible for the accounting and finance
management, and business development as well as company secretarial
matters of the Group. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Commerce in
Management and Marketing from Curtin University of Technology in Australia
in 2002 and also obtained a Master Degree of Accountancy from Lingnan
University in 2012. Dr. Sung has been awarded the distinction of an honorary
doctor in Business Administration from American Purlinton University on 12
January 2013. He is currently a member of Institute of Public Accountants,
Australia. From September 2004 to February 2014, Dr. Sung served as the
managing director and a responsible officer of King’s HT Securities Limited, a
licensed corporation under the SFO, and accumulated working in the
securities industry for about 12 years. Before entering into securities industry,
he worked for several solicitors’ firms in Hong Kong for about 17 years.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSHREBAEBNERE (B)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ye Jian, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 26 August 2014. He is a businessman engaging in pawn
business and experienced in market analysis and risk assessment on pawn
transactions, and an investor experienced in market analysis and risk
assessment on business and securities investments for more than 14 years.
Mr. Ye is the sole owner of Metro Classic Limited, a company which is
beneficially interested in 400,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 28.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2015.

Mr. Liu Kam Lung, aged 52, previously an executive director of the
Company, was re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company on
16 October 2014. Mr. Liu obtained a Diploma of Business Administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan
University) in 1990. Mr. Liu was admitted as an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of the United Kingdom, an
associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, an associate
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a full member of the Society
of Registered Financial Planners and an associate of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong in 1993, 1994, 1995, 1999, 2009 and 2010 respectively. Mr. Liu
has over 25 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr. Liu is currently
the chief executive officer of China Rise Finance Group Company Limited, a
subsidiary of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 1223.HK) of which Mr.
Liu is also the chief financial officer, the independent non-executive director of
Pak Tak International Limited (stock code: 2668.HK) and the independent
non-executive director of Enterprise Development Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1808.HK). Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of Kith Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1201.HK) for the period from October 2010 to June
2013. In addition, from March 2011 to October 2014, Mr.
executive Director, finance director, company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company.

Liu was an
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEAENERE (B)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 30 April 2015. He was a former
independent non-executive director (from November 2005 to October 2008),
executive director (from October 2008 to December 2013), chief financial
officer (from October 2008 to December 2013) and company secretary (from
October 2008 to September 2014) of Peace Map Holding Limited (formerly
known as Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0402.HK), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an
independent non-executive Director of Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8265.HK) from September 2010 to September 2014, a company listed
on the GEM. Prior to taking up the above-mentioned post of the Company,
he was the chief finance officer of the China division of Midland Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1200.HK) from November 2004 to November 2008, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheung was a
director of XACT INTEGRATED MARKETING LIMITED, a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong, which was dissolved by deregistration pursuant
to section 291AA of the then prevailing Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) on 7 September 2007. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of Mr. Cheung, XACT INTEGRATED MARKETING LIMITED was
principally engaged in commercial advertising and had ceased business and
was solvent at the time of it being dissolved by deregistration. Mr. Cheung
has over 22 years of experience in accounting and financial management. He
obtained a master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South
Wales, Australia in April 1993 and a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from the University of London, United Kingdom in August 1990.
Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu Yu Wang, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 17 February 2014. He obtained a
certificate in Business Studies (Banking) from Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute
of the Vocational Training Council Hong Kong in August 1983. He has over
20 years of marketing experience in banking industry. Since May 2010, Mr.
Chiu has become a shareholder and a director of Sparkle Well Environmental
Lighting Company Limited, which is principally engaged in trading of
environmental lighting products.

Mr. Ko Yin Wai, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 23 December 2011. He currently is an enterprise
consultant for Dongguan Changping Qiaohui Lipeng Plastic & Hardware
Manufacturing Company (REEEFHBEBBZBASRRK) and a
marketing strategic consultant for Shenzhen Lanshuo Communication
Equipment Company Limited (FIITEEERANZEHEERAF]). Mr. Ko has
been working in the electronic consumer products industry for about 19
years.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Kwei Chung, aged 46, is one of the founders of the Group. He was
an Executive Director of the Company during the period from 15 June 2011
to 30 April 2015. He was the chief executive officer and compliance officer of
the Company until 30 April 2015. Mr. Li has been a director of a subsidiary of
the Company, MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited, since September 2004
and is also a director of two of the Company’s subsidiaries. He is responsible
for daily operations, research and development activities, procurement and
quality control of the Group. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
Engineering and master’'s degree of Science in Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in 1992 and 1998 respectively. He has over 20 years
of experience in the semiconductor field. Mr. Li was appointed as a member
of the Information and Communication Technology R&D Centre Technology
Review Panel of ASTRI for the years of 2011 to 2014. His responsibilities
includes advising ASTRI on improving the quality of ASTRI’'s R&D projects in
terms of technical merit as well as the commercialisation prospects and
technology transfer potential of the projects and assisting in evaluating the
effectiveness of funded projects in terms of assisting Hong Kong and Pearl
River Delta based companies’ to upgrade their technological competitiveness.

Mr. Lam Nim Yin, aged 56, joined one subsidiary of the Company, MiniLogic
Device Corporation Limited, in March 2007 and is currently the marketing
manager. From June 2013 to January 2016, he was a director of MiniLogic
Device Corporation Limited. He is responsible for sales and marketing
activities, logistic and warehouse control. Mr. Lam has been working in
semiconductor industry for about 27 years. During the period from 1993 to
2009, he served as a director of a company engaging in trading of electronics
such as IC.

Mr. Liu Loi Ying, aged 38, joined one subsidiary of the Company, MiniLogic
Device Corporation Limited, in July 2003 and is currently the engineering
director and team leader in the R&D Department. He is responsible for leading
a team of engineers in R&D operations, and supporting sales and marketing
activities. Mr. Liu was an executive director of the Company during the period
from 15 June 2011 to 30 April 2013. He obtained a bachelor’s degree of
Engineering in Computer Science and Computer Engineering and a master’s
degree of Science in IC Design Engineering from The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2001 and 2005 respectively. He has been
working in the semiconductor field for about 13 years.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEAENERE (B)

Ms. Chan Lok Yin, aged 31, is an associate of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators of the United Kingdom. She obtained a
bachelor’s degree of accounting from Edinburgh Napier University in United
Kingdom in 2008. Ms. Chan has over 8 years of auditing, accounting,
corporate governance and company secretarial experience. For the period
from April 2008 to December 2011, Ms. Chan served in audit firms in Hong
Kong with last position as an accountant. On 1 April 2012, she joined the
Company. Ms. Chan was appointed as assistant to Finance Director and
Company Secretary of the Company from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2014 and
was responsible for accounting and financial management and company
secretaries matter of the Group. She has served as joint company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company since 1 April 2014.

Currently, Ms. Chan is company secretary and authorised representative of
Pak Tak International Limited (Stock Code: 2668), whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and also as a compliance officer of
China Rise Securities Asset Management Company Limited, a subsidiary of
Symphony Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1223) whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yuen Wai Yiu Gary, aged 31, joined one subsidiary of the Company,
Easy Loan Finance Limited (“Easy Loan”), in 24 July 2015 and was appointed
as a director of Easy Loan on 26 February 2016 and is responsible for money
lending business and daily operations of Easy Loan. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Computing and Information Systems from Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2008 and a Master Degree of Accountancy from Lingnan
University in 2012. He has been working in the money lending business for
about 7 years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo and Ms. Chan Lok Yin are the Joint Company
Secretaries of the Company. For details of their profile, please refer to the
paragraphs headed “Executive Directors” and “Senior Management” under
this section.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Zhang Qing is the compliance officer of the Company. For details of his
profile, please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” under this
section.
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Directors’ Report

EEE®RE

The directors (“Directors”) of Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) submit herewith their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATION AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no other
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the company and its subsidiaries for
the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year can be
found in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 8 to 18 of this annual report. This discussion forms parts of this
Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 64 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and
note 28(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 57,600,000 ordinary shares were
issued upon placing under general mandate and 1,036,800,000 ordinary
shares were issued pursuant to an open offer. Details of the abovementioned
placing and open offer can be found on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report
under the paragraph headed “Fund Raising Activities and Change in Use of
Proceeds” in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 December 2015
was approximately HK$137,875,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last 5 financial years is set out on page 136 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Group as set out in note 32 of the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group or existed during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEgHRET (B)

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Share Option Scheme of the Company adopted on 16 May
2012 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman)

Mr. Li Kwei Chung (retired from the conclusion of annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Chief Executive Officer)
(promoted from Chief Financial Officer to Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 30 April 2015)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ye Jian
Mr. Liu Kam Lung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sun Kwong (retired from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015)
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (appointed with effect from the conclusion
of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015)
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
Mr. Ko Yin Wai
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE
FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr. Sung
Tak Wing Leo, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang and Mr. Ko Yin Wai shall retire from office
as Directors by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors
is appointed for an initial term of one year commencing from their respective
dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the
other party.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, its controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEgHRET (B)

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Profiles of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on
pages 41 to 45 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the

Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short position of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46
of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Positions

Ordinary shares of the Company
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Total
number of
the Company’s

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

issued ordinary capital of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held the Company

7R SN ﬂ HARRF

ERTER E#HITRA

EEnE LR £33 Bﬁﬁ%ﬂ%{ WA BE 2L

Mr. Ye Jian Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 1) 400,800,000 28.99%

HEEE ZiEGhEEE R (1)

Note: Bt T -

1. Mr. Ye Jian is the beneficial owner of all of the issued share capital of Metro 1. B B 4 A A Metro Classic Limited & 30 & 3% 17

Classic Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 400,800,000
ordinary shares of the Company in which Metro Classic Limited is beneficially
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

EARZE /\%’Eﬁ/\ & It 3 R A& % B Metro
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LB 2R -
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

ESERE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons (other than a director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under 336 of the SFO:

Long and Short Positions

Ordinary shares of the Company

FTERRREMALIREAD
%gﬁ&@%ﬁﬁ%%é&

R20156F12A31H  ARAREFHFLHPE

EhlEeBFENELDMEE U TAL
(BREARAMEZTSAESTRABIINEER
ARG RAEBR DA ERSORE

FRARKR
ARENEBRRG

Total

number of Approximate

the Company’s percentage of

issued ordinary the issued share

shares held capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) Company

A2

ERTEER LER NN

R EE ERITRAE

BRRHEE B8 B EEEE (PfaE1) WA BES

Metro Classic Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 400,800,000(L) 28.99%
B&HEAAME2) 400,800,000(47)

Vital Apex Group Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 2983,581,368(L)(S) 21.24%

EnfAB A MES) 293,581,368(4F) (%)
Mr. Wong Siu Piu Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 3) 2983,581,368(L)(S) 21.24%
N AR A B R s (P EE3) 293,581,368(1F) (%)

China Rise Finance Company Limited Beneficial owner (Notes 3 and 4) 293,581,368(L) 21.24%
EEZUMBERRAA BEmniEA A ME3%4) 293,581,368(47)

China Rise Finance Group Company Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 4) 293,581,368(L) 21.24%

Limited

EEemEEEGRAA = A (MFE4) 293,581,368 (4F)

Jin Dragon Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Notes 4 and 5) 358,935,452(L) 25.96%
2HDEE R (54 %5) 358,935,452 (1)

Essential Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Notes 4 and 5) 358,935,452(L) 25.96%
2HDEE R (M54 &%5) 358,935,452 (4F)

Cosmo Group Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Notes 4 and 5) 358,935,452(L) 25.96%
HEmGEEE R (M54 %5) 358,935,452 (1F)

Symphony Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Notes 4 and 5) 358,935,452(L) 25.96%

MEEEERA

B s (B4 &5)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and the letter “S” denotes short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company.

2. Mr. Ye Jian is the beneficial owner of all of the issued share capital of Metro
Classic Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 400,800,000
ordinary shares in which Metro Classic Limited is beneficially interested.

3. Mr. Wong Siu Piu is the beneficial owner of all the issued share capital of Vital
Apex Group Limited, and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
293,581,368 ordinary shares in which Vital Apex Group Limited is beneficially
interested. As per the announcement of the Company dated 4 January 2016,
Vital Apex Group Limited has pledged the 293,581,368 ordinary shares in favour
of China Rise Finance Company Limited as security for a term loan facility
provided to Vital Apex Group Limited. China Rise Finance Company Limited
thus has security interest over these shares.

4. China Rise Finance Company Limited is wholly-owned by China Rise Finance
Group Company Limited. China Rise Finance Group Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Jin Dragon Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by
Essential Holdings Limited. Essential Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by
Cosmo Group Holdings Limited which in turn is wholly-owned by Symphony
Holdings Limited. Thus China Rise Finance Group Company Limited, Jin Dragon
Holdings Limited, Essential Holdings Limited, Cosmo Group Holdings Limited
and Symphony Holdings Limited are deemed to be interested in the 293,581,368
ordinary shares in which China Rise Finance Company Limited has security
interest.

5. Jin Dragon Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 65,354,084
ordinary shares beneficial owned by Teamchoice Holdings Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Jin Dragon Holdings Limited. As mentioned in the
above Note 4, Essential Holdings Limited, Cosmo Group Holdings Limited and
Symphony Holdings Limited are also deemed to be interested in the 65,354,084
ordinary shares which are deemed to be interested by Jin Dragon Holdings
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no other interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEgHRET (B)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers respectively during the year are as follows:

TBREFRHER

AEBNETBEEPRHEREGEFAEER
RENEHRET

Sales Purchases

HE HEE

The largest customer SN 24% N/A 3 A
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFER 61% N/A A3
The largest supplier BAHIER N/A 3 R 39%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate HAHER AT N/A 3 85%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2015 are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, which do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicity available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float.

INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by Ample Capital Limited (“Ample”), the Company’s former
compliance adviser, except for the compliance adviser agreement entered
into between the Company and Ample Capital Limited dated 29 December
2011, neither Ample nor its directors, employees or close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in relation to the Group
from 1 January 2015 to 27 March 2015. The term of the compliance adviser
agreement with Ample was completed on 27 March 2015, following the
issuance of the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2014.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group.

At no time during the year of 2015 and up to the date of this Directors’
Report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for
the benefit of any of the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the
Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On 29 December 2011, a non-competition undertaking dated 29 December
2011 (the “Undertaking”) was given by Kith Holdings Limited, Mr. Hui King
Chun and each of the then executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Li
Kwei Chung, Mr. Liu Kam Lung, Mr. Liu Loi Ying (collectively the “Covenantors”)
in favour of the Company (for itself and for the benefit of its subsidiaries)
pursuant to which, among other things, each of the Covenantors has given
certain undertakings and covenants in favour of the Company.

Pursuant to the Undertaking, the Undertaking shall take effect upon the initial
listing of the shares of the Company on GEM and shall cease to be of any
force and effect in relation to a party at the earlier of:

(@  the shares of the Company cease to be listed and traded on the Stock
Exchange;

(b) in relation to Kith Holdings Limited, the date on which it ceases to be
the controlling shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Company; and
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EEgHRET (B)

(c) in relation to Mr. Hui King Chun and the executive Directors, the date
on which he ceases to be a director of the Company,

provided that the Undertaking shall continue to be in full force and effect as
against the other parties to the Undertaking.

Accordingly, the Undertaking has ceased to be of any force and effect in
relation to () Kith Holdings Limited since 16 April 2013; (i) Mr. Hui King Chun
since 10 April 2013; (iii) Mr. Liu Loi Ying since 30 April 2013; (iv) Mr. Liu Kam
Lung since 16 October 2014; and (v) Mr. Li Kwei Chung since the conclusion
of annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, Mr. Li Kwei Chung has complied with
the Undertaking and has signed and made an annual declaration on
compliance with the Undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
said written annual declarations has been received by the Company.

In compliance with the Undertaking, Mr. Li Kwei Chung made the annual
declaration on the compliance with the Undertaking in this annual report as
follows:

(@  that he/she/it did not and procured that none of his/her/its associates (other
than the Group) would, either on his/her/its own account or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, directly
or indirectly be interested or engaged in or acquire or hold any rights or
otherwise involved in (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business in all the countries and regions presently carried on by the
Group or any other business that may be carried on from time to time
during the term of the Undertaking (“Business”);

(b) if he/she/it and/or any of his/her/its associates (other than the Group)
was offered or became aware of any opportunity in relation to the
Business, whether directly or indirectly, he/she/it would have notified
the Company of such opportunity, provide such information as is
reasonably required by the Company as soon as practicable in order to
enable it to come to an informed assessment of such opportunity and
used his/her/its best endeavours to procure that such opportunity is
offered to the Company on terms no less favourable than the terms on
which such opportunity is offered on him/her/it and/or his/her/its
associates (other than the Group); and
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

(c)  he/she/it provided all information necessary for the enforcement of the
Undertaking and made this annual declaration on the compliance with
the Undertaking in this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details of event after reporting period are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A corporate governance report is set out on pages 19 to 40 of this annual
report. Mr. Zhang Qing whose biographical details are set out on page 41 of
this report, is the Compliance Officer of the Company and Dr. Sung Tak Wing
Leo and Ms. Chan Lok Yin whose biographical details are set out on page 41
and 45 of this annual report respectively, are the Joint Company Secretaries
of the Company.

AUDITOR

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co. was re-appointed as the auditors of the Company
and its subsidiaries at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
April 2014. On 31 October 2014, Graham H.Y. Chan & Co. resigned as an
auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries. JH CPA Alliance Limited was
appointed as an auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries by the Board of
Directors of the Company on 5 December 2014 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Graham H.Y. Chan & Co..

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change in the auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding 3 years. The financial statements have been
audited by JH CPA Alliance Limited.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint JH CPA Alliance Limited as the auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% B A R

JH CPA Alliance Limited
BE GG ERHAA M

Certified Public Accountants

BBARRYERA L 145

WX E P SAETHTOTE

Unit 707, 7/F, Tower A, New Mandarin Plaza
No. 14 Science Museum Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
%35 Tel: 25246834 1% A Fax: 3178 1077

TO THE MEMBERS OF
MEGALOGIC TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Megalogic
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company’) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 135, which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and of the
Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

JH CPA Alliance Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 18 March 2016

FUNG Kwok Leung
Practising Certificate Number P2357
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeEsaRkEMEZEKRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE20156F12A31HIEFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHET FET
Revenue U 2= 6 29,244 52,136
Cost of sales HE KA (20,024) (40,883)
Gross profit ER 9,220 11,258
Other income H e A 7 123 488
Other gains and losses Hi s M Es1E 8 (110) 591
Staff costs =N (10,659) (9,038)
Depreciation e (1,449) (1,625)
Operating lease rental — land and buildings EEHERS — T RETF (1,230) (1,038)
Other operating expenses Hihea M (4,753) (8,283)
Loss before income tax BRETBHATEE (8,858) (7,652)
Income tax expense FriS i = 10 = (38)
Loss for the year FRER (8,858) (7,690)
Loss attributable to owners of AAREEAEEEE
the Company (8,858) (7,690)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income, H#i2H (%) W#H
net of income tax ({IBRFTEHE)
ltems that may be subsequently HEgnggEd2EBEZ
reclassified to profit or loss: B/E :
Exchange differences arising on MEEAVIER 5
translation (24) 4
Total comprehensive expense for FRE2EMEXZAE
the year (8,882) (7,686)
Total comprehensive expense for AAREEANELCFERZEMAX
the year attributable to owners wE
of the Company (8,882) (7,686)
HK cents HK cents
7B Al el
(restated)
(FE75)
Loss per share attributable to owners AATRBEEAELEERER 15
of the Company
Basic and diluted ERL#EE (1.87) (2.25)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR &R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
201512 831 H

2015 2014
20154 20144
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 3E THET FHET

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME B E MK 16 3,103 3,764
Loan receivables il =N 20 6,101 -
Total non-current assets BWERBEE 9,204 3,764

Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 5,152 8,486
Trade receivables EUE 5 BR R 19 2,191 3,868
Loan receivables FEUE = 20 80,319 202
Trading securities g5 %% 21 = 3,810
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMNKEA 22 1,157 1,781
Bank balances and cash WITEHRER S 23 188,739 57,214
Total current assets BREBEE 277,558 75,361
Current liabilities REAE

Trade payables EINE SRR 24 928 2,102
Other payables and accruals H A fE R BT RA 25 1,233 1,046
Total current liabilities wREAE 2,161 4,048
Net current assets BARABEE 275,397 71,313
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABHEE 284,601 75,077
Net assets BEE 284,601 75,077

Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital fi& A< 28(a) 138,240 28,800
Reserves & 28(b) 146,361 46,277
Total equity DB 284,601 75,077

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 135 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 March 2016 and

signed on its behalf by:

ZHANG Qing

RE

Director

EF

FO0E 1B EMERE B HEE RN20164F3 A
1SHEEETHAEARKRETE  XHTIE

EREESF

SUNG Tak Wing Leo

[e=/=]

RIGEH
Director

EBF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TRERREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE20156F12A31HIEFE

Retained
profits/
Share Share Merger Exchange (Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses) equity
REHEAN
& BHRE BOREE ELGFHE (RETE#E) EREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2014 R2014%F1 A1H 24,000 20,437 17,941 — 1,745 64,123
Changes in equity for the year & ZE2014512831H
ended 31 December 2014 LFEZEREH
Exchange differences arising MEEEACERLERE
on translation — — - 4 — 4
Loss for the year FEREE — — — - (7,690) (7,690)
Total comprehensive expense FRALHEASLE
for the year — — — 4 (7,690) (7,686)
Issue of shares upon placing Ao & 1T 4,800 14,400 — - - 19,200
Expenses incurred in connection 45 X 3% 7 % 15 = 4 19
with the issue of shares during B
the year — (560) — — - (560)
At 31 December 2014 M2014512A318 R
and 1 January 2015 2015%F1A1H 28,800 34,277 17,941 4 (5,945) 75,077
Changes in equity for the year # Z2015%F 128311
ended 31 December 2015 LEEZEZRE
Exchange differences arisingon & E A V7 [E 5 =5
translation — - = (24) = (24)
Loss for the year FREIE - — - - (8,858) (8,858)
Total comprehensive expense for — 4F (A 2 1H B x 42 %8
the year = = = (24) (8,858) (8,882)
Issue of shares upon placing Bl & 21T D 5,760 13,824 - - - 19,584
Issue of shares pursuant to open 18 1% 2\ B 3 &
offer BT 103,680 103,680 - - — 207,360
Expenses incurred in connection 9 A 2% 1T I 15 B A HY
with the issue of shares during 553
the year - (8,538) - - - (8,538)
At 31 December 2015 A2015F12H31H 138,240 143,243 17,941 (20) (14,803) 284,601
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZ20156F 12 A1 B ILFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FTHERT FET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHZ2RHERE
Loss before income tax bR TS B AT B 18 (8,858) (7,652)
Adjustments for: LRAETHZE :
Bank interest income H|ATH E WA 7 (14) (270)
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BELREITE
equipment 16 1,449 1,625
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME  BELRE
and equipment, net Bia,/ (k) F 58 8 6 M
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete MR R E R
inventories 1,176 293
Gain on disposal of trading securities HEEHEFELH 2 K= 8 (64) (841)
Bad debt iR 8 = 23
Operating cash flows before EEESRHAKERERE
working capital changes (6,305) (6,823)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &R,/ () 2,158 (989)
Decrease in trade receivables W E 5 IR FOR 1,677 3,122
Increase in loan receivables JIE U B K8 A0 (86,218) (202)
Decrease in deposits and prepayments e RIEN FER D 624 424
Decrease in trade payables BB Z RO (1,174) (120)
Decrease in other payables and accruals E b e R ER FRIBR (713) (1,058)
Net cash used in operating activities ARKETEZ2FRE (89,951) (5,646)
Cash flow from investing activities RERETH2HERE
Payment for purchase of property, BEWE BELRREZ
plant and equipment NEN (794) (1,918)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE BEIEKEZ
plant and equipment FR 8 78 = 10
Acquisition of a subsidiary U g — A1 BT B8 2 &) = (59)
Proceeds on disposal/(acquisition) of HE(WEBSES
trading securities FT1S 38 3,874 (2,969)
Bank interest received B U ERIT R B 14 270
Net cash generated from/(used in) ELEB  (ARREZEHZ
investing activities FRE 3,094 (4,662)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
meREREXRE)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F12 A1 AILFE

2015 2014
2015 20144
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHERT FET
Cash flow from financing activities REMETH2HRERE
Issue of shares upon placing il & B 1T (D 19,584 19,200
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer BB ARBEERITRMGD 207,360 -
Expenses incurred in connection with HETRODEENHAE
the issue of share (8,538) (560)
Net cash generated from financing METHEEZFES
activities 218,406 18,640
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents & & ¥ € ZE Y 5T in 131,549 8,332
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January MB1ENBRERELSZEEY 57,214 48,878
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes /MEE = # &)~ & (24) 4
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December A12A31 B ESRESZEY 188,739 57,214
Analysis of balance of cash and cash ReREASEENEHRIN:
equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITEBLIES 188,739 57,214
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 31 March
2011, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is located at 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place
of business is located at Suite 2101, 21/F, Chinachem Century Tower,
178 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
19 January 2012 (“Listing”). The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
Company referred to as the “Group”) are the provision of Integrated
Circuit (“IC”) solutions and are engaged in design, development and
sales of ICs in addition to the money lending business. The details of
particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 17.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (‘HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that
are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year
beginning on 1 January 2015. HKFRSs comprise HKFRS; Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.

SLEPTBHRRHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZ20156F 12 A1 B ILFE

—REH

RRAANR01MTFEIANEHREFNEHS
EBRBERNAEERESHS MR
—HEREEREEAR - Al EM
% B BE Hb 1k 7 7190 Elgin Avenue, George
Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman
Islands e EF & it R EBEH S
T BT8R E R L E 521182101 F

RRFH E2012F1 B19H REEE
BMaXZMARRB (A AZER

Lm(thJ) ARy —HREZERK
~E EMBARCERARARAREIA

EEDMETZEXEBREHEXNER (£
BERDMBATE  UREENER
VA AR REEARMEESE - K

NEIMBAR 2 BN ET7 -

R EMBHRRARQANINGEEEE
TUBETDE2® R BREHESIN
AESHEYDAREREAETAET -

RAFE AEBERMNEASTAR
e((BEGFAMAS) BB ZRBEERH
HEBWREB201541 A1 BN S5
FEERNIITREETEEMB RS
EA([HEHBHRELER]) - BBYH
LR BIERH ﬁﬂ%*& AR B H
S ER((HAGERND  RBE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R M (8)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(@) New and revised HKFRS adopted

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee benefits : Defined
Benefit plans: Employee
contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19 — Employee benefits:
Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the complexity of
accounting for certain contributions from employees or third
parties under defined benefit plans.

When the contributions are eligible for the practical expedient
provided by the amendments, a company is allowed to recognise
the contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the period
in which the related service is rendered, instead of including them
in calculating the defined benefit obligation.

Amendment to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments
to nine standards with consequential amendments to other
standards. Among them, HKAS 24, Related party disclosures
has been amended to expand the definition of a “related party”
to include a management entity that provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity, and to require the
disclosure of the amounts incurred for obtaining the key
management personnel services provided by the management
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e Rk MEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. BT REIETEERY
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B EZER @

STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

(b) EEME I RERZHE]
REEBITEEBUNBEREE
Al

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective:

AEBYEREEEATICHS
B RERH T REETEE

B sk E LR

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? BEUMBREEN 2HBTA®

oL

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets ERAMBREED REZHABE
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its S10RREAGEH LAFAHAED
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture* R 285 REZAMEE

(2011%) HEHTE
(BETA)

Amendments to Investment Entities: Applying EATEMEERN KETE: EH
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 the Consolidation Exception’ F10%  FEHB  AHAEZ
and HKAS 28 (2011) WmERAER2FR BN

BE G LR
F28%k
(20114)
CCHEN
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of EEIMEREER WERLFEE
Interests in Joint Operations' ESRLACHEN) liok- = yiok-41a
EHE
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts® ERUBRELEN EEEELER®
F 145
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERVHREELED FKEHEEFARA
Customers® E 1558 B 7"
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative' EBECHENFE1FE BESE
(EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable EE ST ENE6S BEME LY

and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and LEAGERE MBS E
Amortisation' EACHEY

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants' BEEE; EEE\J?E 1658 B £EM

and HKAS 41 REBGHENE BY
4155 (BRI A)

Amendments to Equity Method in Separate EBes | B BRI

HKAS 27 (2011) Financial Statements' F2T5 Bm %
(2011%)
((BFI )

Annual Improvements to Amendments to a number of BAVBREEN ZBEEABUBER

HKFRSs 20122014 Cycle ~ HKFRSS' 20124 % R MEITA
20145 EH 2
F Y
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B RS AR Y AL ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and
therefore is not applicable to the Group

No mandatory effective date is determined but is available for early
adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of
HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)—
Sale or Contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e Rk MEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. RMFEIRRIETETARAY

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B EZER @
STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not (b) © M M{E KR E B ZHE]
yet effective (Continued) )SiJ RETERUBREE
NG )
Amendments to HKFRS 11 — Accounting for BB M W& A '5@11 L

acquisitions of interests in joint operation

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an
interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint
operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant
principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3. The
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint
operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional
interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained.
In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to HKFRS 11 to
specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties
sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under
common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The
amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in
a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in
the same joint operation. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for
measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In
September 2015, the HKICPA issued an amendment to HKFRS
15 regarding a one-year deferral of the mandatory effective date
of HKFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing the
impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B RS AR Y AL ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.

The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and
the statement of financial position may be disaggregated;

(i) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they

present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method must be presented
in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified

to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of
financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 —

Clarification of Acceptable methods of depreciation

and amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle in
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from operating business (of
which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that
are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited
circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not
expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as
the Group has not used a revenue-based method for the

calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Apart from the aforementioned, the adoption of these new
standards and amendments to standards is not expected to
have any significant impact on the results and financial position of
the Group.

(c) New Companies Ordinance provisions
relating to the preparation of financial
statements

The provisions of the new Companies Ordinance, Cap.622, in
relation to the preparation of financial statements apply to the
Company in this financial year.

The directors consider that there is no impact on the Group’s
financial position or performance. However the new Companies
Ordinance, Cap.622, impacts on the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. For example,
the statement of financial position of the Company is now
presented in the notes to the financial statements rather than as
a primary statement and related notes to the statement of
financial position of the Company are generally no longer
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ERRMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except for trading securities which are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R IR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F12 A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. FESHHEw

(b) Basis of preparation (Continued) (b) #m B E % m)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value AN B EHREmME - A FEET

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

The principal accounting policies are set out in subsequent
paragraphs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ERRMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need
to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e Rk MEE (8)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. FESHHEw

(c) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (c) KEEEm

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MBHmRMNEE (8
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F12A31BIFFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Al
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquire and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings and leasehold
land (classified as finance leases) held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts over
their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose during the reporting period are
as follows:

Computer 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Instruments 20%
Office equipment 30%
Motor vehicle 30%

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ERRMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated on the first-in-first-out basis and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

() Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or
loss” (FVTPL) and “loans and receivables”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o [t has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

° On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° It is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MBHmRMNEE (8
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F12A31BIFFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Financial asset at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the ’other gains and
losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 3(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e B % Rk Y 5 (48D

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade
receivables and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re- organisation; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ERRMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFI

(Continued)

(9) Fina
(v)

CANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ncial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period and observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods
(see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e B % Rk Y 5 (48D

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R M (8)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vii) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is

recognised in profit or loss.

84 Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

3. FEEHHEXwm

(9 &E®MIAm

(vii)

(viii) %

TRLBE 2

BRI /Zi
ERMEREFE %ﬂ%ﬁ
BIHAA R E X DR
%ﬁ%%ﬁ%—ﬁﬁﬁoﬁ
BAHNEEZEESERABNRE
AHEEMS(RMER  BEH
) 1) fh 5T B 1R 3R & N ERE
BRI E A 2 T R B A0 % BR
T B HO A K o

MBS H DA B BRI 3 A

7
o

I _U:EEFI’L,\
rEBEREEEMELARS
WMEN A QRN E ML R
HEZIREEUREER
BRBRID AR KE R T
SEERRUIERZT R
BE - MASEIT EEEN
REEBEBRIE S AR
REHR  WHEEEGE EE
BE AAEEKEERR
BE MUEBKE2HEER
R WHERAEEAB WA
SERBCHECREER
BB KA E b K [l
AIREEBESERZE R
BE X MEREWHMEHRA
BB ERER -

WMEERIEERASHEE
EEFEmMEHEDKEERR
BHORHEME2EBRAER
W= RIEH R U sk
BENBMZEANEZEER
BEHMER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(viii) Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount
of the financial asset between the part it continues to
recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of
the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is allocated between the part that continues to be
recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on
the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ERRMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

0]

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

86 Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

3. FESHHEw

(h)

(i)

kemEERE®

AREEBERARFEREHEEK
AREREEMETHRSE - N
AHEEREER B RRRER
ENBAMEREMRRERLRE  Z
MREXRBRMBREMTENS
P (E R R Bt H B AR R
KEERENEERTER

WEE(HRESELEFEL) WM
AEeEENEREE NEE
(HRSELEM)NREES RS
K= EH AT RO 2 5 - 6 8 & B R

i B EEEERBE - BIEE (3
ReEAEM)NKEEERLAE
HERIE RO S8 L E
HEEENSBHEE (XREE
B R AEFEY EERRE
&5 18 B R FE e E MY R TEIME © R (B &S
BRONSNIERER -

BeRBAEEEY

RehRAeFTEMRERITER
FEFRE FRRBETMEME
BT EE BE R AR BRI
BEGSHNREERBE - ELHEEA
NEZHERSE MORE BE
FARSHMEEZSRRE N I
EEAR=EA NI - sk e
AREREXRME REeLREFH
EVHLERAREREE  LHEK
AEBERCER -—HHMRTE
% o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e B % Rk Y 5 (48D

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plan

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefit

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share option scheme

The Company operates share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

For share options granted under the share option scheme,
the fair value of the employee’s services rendered in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense and credited to an employee share based
compensation reserve under equity. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the
grant date. At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that is
expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and a
corresponding adjustment to the employee share- based
compensation reserve over the remaining vesting period.

HE2015F12A31BILFE

3. FESHHEw

() EE®ER

(i)

(i

(i)

RHEERA KRG E R
fHF0OR ¢k 5T 81 F A9
b

e FERS AFHF
R 7 B BUR RFH 845K
RFEEHERAOKA  HE
REREMHARE RS FER
Rt e WA RKAEELIEM
TEBEA LA HEE
RERETIE-

BB AR A

BERLR AR AR BT BB
HREERZERMNE R AREE
BRIEIABEBRENNE

MAARE (AREERE)E
s

BT A

AR AERA AR KER

B RYEANKEEBKIIE
HERMZEERZ2BEERH
HEERE - AEEER (2
BREF)UBRDIARS 2
77 A UCEER B - e B B2
HRBEREDE T A ZHKE

(MEREERH]) -

MIREBEETERL 2B
HEmS - EEMEHRRS
BMEVER B RE 2 R ER
RRFAX LT AEREAT
BEZUABRMNAERINZ
MEFE FEHARXEL
HEZ2RRLBHAMRLE
Bz R FEEE KSR
SR NREBEETEFK
RATITEERERE 2K
e ARNBEAEZEKRERNA
BREITREGHH(EFER)
TERBTREBHRAYE
BB RERIN2H
BB EEHE -

RASNEEERAT 87
20155 3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B SRR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified if the original terms of the award are
met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification, which increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share, if any.

(k) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and

taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R IR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F12 A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3. FESHHEXwm
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(k) Taxation (Continued) (k)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwiill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HE2015F12A31BILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority

on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilites on a net basis or realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

(m)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold or services provided in the normal course of
business, net of returns and discounts. Provided it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B RS AR Y AL ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(n)

(i)

(i)

Revenue from the sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ designated location which is taken to be the
point in time when the customer has accepted the goods
and the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the provision of integrated
circuits packaging service

Revenue from the provision of integrated circuits packaging
service is recognised in the period in which the relevant
service is provided.

Revenue from fixed-price contracts

Revenue from fixed-price contracts for the provision of
application specific integrated circuit service (“ASIC
Service”) is recognised under the percentage of completion
method, which is based on the services performed to date
as a percentage of the total services to be performed
under the relevant contract.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Operating lease

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases. Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by
the lease terms, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Lease should recognise the aggregate benefit of
incentives as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R IR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE KRR (E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 12318 FFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Research and development expenditure
(Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

—  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

—  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

—  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

—  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

During the reporting periods, all research and development
expenditure has been expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e Rk MEE (8)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Related parties

A)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parents.

An entity is related to the Group is any of the
following conditions applies:

)

(i

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third party;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A); or

a person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parents of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R M (8)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n Segment report

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of

regulatory environment.

these criteria.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, management is required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other information that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management estimates
the useful lives of various categories of property, plant and
equipment based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will
revise the depreciation charge where useful lives are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made
based on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgment and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group recognises provision for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligations and a reliable estimate can be made. Where it is not
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as contingent liability in a note to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e EBRRMEE (B
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. TRIA
(@) Categories of financial instruments @ EMITAENSSE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and AEBRSEREFANESHEE
liabilities as at the end of each reporting year are as follows: HEERMEWNT :
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Financial assets: SREE
Fair value through profit or loss BEBRERARNAFE
— Trading securities —H9%F = 3,810
— Loan receivables —ERER 86,420 202
Loans and receivables B EREFIE
— Trade receivables —EWE SRR 2,191 3,868
— Bank balance and cash —IRITEBER S 188,739 57,214
277,350 65,094
Financial liabilities: SRAE:
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REEKNATHENESREAE
— Trade payables —ERNEZER 928 2,102
— Other payables and accruals — Hh e RERTRIA 1,233 1,946
2,161 4,048
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are described below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise
to this risk include United States dollars (“USD”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”). In addition, certain bank balances of
the Group are also denominated in USD. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
with respect to its foreign exchange exposure. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposures and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
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the end of each reporting period are as follows: ERREmERT
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT T T
Assets &E
usD ETT 1,913 4,394
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MBHmRMNEE (8
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F12A31BIFFEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

(i

Currency risk (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the currencies of USD and RMB against the currency of
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to USD does not give rise to significant
foreign currency risk on the ground that HKD is pegged to
USD. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis of USD against the
functional currency of the respective group entity is
disclosed.

A reasonably possible change of 5% in the exchange rate
between RMB and HKD would have no material impact on
the Group’s profit or loss during the reporting periods and
there would be no material impact on the Group’s equity
as at the end of each reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding RMB denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
respective reporting period for a 5% change in the
currency rate. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk in respect of RMB internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in the exchange rate of HKD against RMB.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises
primarily from its variable-rate bank deposits.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based on
the exposure to interest rates for the Group’s variable-rate
bank deposits at the end of each reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of these assets
and liabilities outstanding at the end of each reporting
period were outstanding for the whole period. A 25 basis
points increase or decrease in interest rates is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis throughout
the reporting periods.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been 25 (2014: 100) basis points higher/lower in respect of
the Group’s variable-rate bank deposits and bank
overdrafts, with all other variables held constant, there
would have decreased/increased by approximately
HK$295,500 (2014: HK$259,000) on the Group’s loss
during the reporting period. These are mainly attributable
to Group’s exposure to interest rate on its variable rate
bank balances.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, loan receivables and bank deposits. As at 31
December 2015 and 2014,
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

the Group’s maximum
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B RS AR Y AL ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has a credit policy in place and will perform
credit evaluations on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. The Group also has an export credit
insurance with the Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance
Corporation to cover risks on non-payment by customers.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly
to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the Group’s
top one (2014: two) trade debtor accounted for 74% (2014:
69%) of its total trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, the Group’s five largest trade
debtors accounted for 88% and 89% of its total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2015 and 2014
respectively.

The Group has thirty-six (2014: one) loan receivables as at
31 December 2015.

The credit risk for liquid funds is limited because such
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 19.

Collateral held as security and other credit
enhancements

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored closely by the
management of the Group. In the management of the
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

During the reporting periods, the Group financed its
working capital requirements principally by funds generated
from operations and issue of shares.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period for its
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

5. @I Auwm

b) MBEEAREEEEREEK
(8

vy REBETER

rEBZEBEEERINESR
REBZRBESHAR - H
Efﬁmuﬁéiﬂ 2 7 AR
EEERRARERERR
FrRzZBESRREEBYK
FoARAEBRzEERE
REMEEHRERBANR
PEZHFK-

RBEHRRN AEEETEE
BEEELENETRETR
MREELEER -

T RFF A E B RS RS E
f@ﬁﬁﬁﬁz/\i’]?”ﬁﬂﬁ
e TRERBEZREBEZ
REFRBERE WUALRE

BENZHOEFEBHAESE
RE - RNBEEMNEREZE

MRS ME -
Repayable on
demand or Between Total
within Between 3monthsto  undiscounted Carrying
1month  1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount
ARERAR -8R =f8A AEBES
-BRREE =f8A E-F RERE FESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TEL TEL
As at 31 December 2015 7420155125318
Trade and other payables  E & 5 I H th fE [ BR X 2,161 - - 2,161 2,161
As at 31 December 2014 420145128 31H
Trade and other payables & 5 J £ ftt & {4 Bk 3% 4,048 - - 4,048 4,048
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

v)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. Management’s
decision to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the market, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs, in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

If equity prices had been 50% higher/lower, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 would not
change (2014: decrease/increase by HK$1,591,000). This
is mainly due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in the design, development and sales

of integrated circuits (“ICs”) and money lending business. Revenue
represents the amount received and receivable for goods sold and
services provided by the Group at invoiced value, net of returns and
discounts, and interest income from money lending business is
recognised using the effective interest method, during the reporting

5. €8T A
b) BEEREEBEZERBE

(%)

v)

6. W=

H b B 4% E bz

AEBEITZ2RE EMER
SREMAERERR - &
BEBERLEEZESN
RETIRBAEEREHR
HER & B BB E 5 E %8
HERTMEHRAARAEE
MRBEEHK-

R

R AE B 2T
KT HRED T IREBERSE
HARABRERREE -

fit 75 AR (B £ 3R BK50% + A<
EBEH E20154F12 8318 1t
FEZEEH®EZ (2014
& 48 01,591,000
T WD EZHRIBIEES
HENFEEE-

AEBIENEENER(EXER])
MR FEMBEEARRERS - K
HEAEERNGEANERLEEY LR
HERBDREERESENERER I
HBRERERTIN URKRBREEBH
MEBWATIERERNE LR - A%

periods. An analysis of the Group’s revenue recognised during the year RERNEERREZSTOT :
is as follows:

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Revenue from sales of ICs REEEEXNSER K= 22,833 49,496
Revenue from provision of ASIC Service K B 1R ASIC R 75 B Uk 25 868 2,633
Revenue from money lending business REREEB K= 5,543 7
29,244 52,136
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7.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

OTHER INCOME 7. Htg A
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiET
Bank interest income 1T A B WA 14 270
Rebate of approved project cost R A1 IE B AR 3k = 206
Sundry income M 109 12
123 488
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HftzmKEE
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T T T
Gain on disposal of trading securities HEZEZFEHF K& 64 841
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BELEE
plant and equipment, net (B51B) = g8 (6) 1
Exchange loss T 5, 5 18 (168) (228)
Bad debt =R = @3
(110) 591

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors and certain senior management (collectively referred to as the
“CODM”) that make strategic decisions. Information reported to the
CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered or provided. In respect of the design, development and sales
of integrated circuits constitute one operating segment, while money

lending business being the other reporting segment.

ITBEEARERABRFHERAEN
HTEERETRRERE(BBEARIE
ERERARE]) MIBLERKEZR
BADBEERNFMEDBRRNER
EEMNEERIBERRENEL - &
At RABRMEEEKERER —EALE
DHES MAMERFA RS —EREDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4= A

e B ERRE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The CODM considers that the Group had two reporting segment, being
the design, development and sales of integrated circuits, prior to the
completion of acquisition of a money lending business on 31 May
2014. Following the acquisition, the Group was engaged in two
business segments, being the design,
development and sales of ICs, and money lending business. The
CODM regularly reviews the nature of their operations and the products
and services. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services which are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other
business segments.

namely IC business,

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major products and services is
set out in note 6 above.

() Segment results, assets and liabilities

7 EE R @

FTELEEREERE  ER2014F5A4
STHERKE —EREEE 2 A&
EHEAMERS S B FEM
HEEKER -RIEEZ AEEHRSE
WMEZER»H a0 BNEK TR EKGR:T
FEMEEERER) RRNEEF -2
EBERRETHEMELCE RERMAR
BHMHE AEBSEBD> B A — EE
BE R BN REER KRR R M
B AR E AR D E -

AEEKRB T BEBMRBE U=
N LM EES ©

) PHMWEE BEEREE

Unallocated
IC Money lending corporate Total
SEHER W& KOBMEE &t
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
2015 20144 2015 20144 2015 20144 2015 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHT FAExT FHT FTAExT FHT FET FHAT
Results 4
Revenue from external REINREFH
customers g 23,701 52,129 5,543 7 - - 29,244 52,136
Gross profit E7 3,677 11,246 5,543 7 - - 9,220 11,253
Bank interest income RITR B A 1 1 - — 13 269 14 270
Depreciation e (1,243 (1,470 (24) 5] (182) (1500 (1,449)  (1,625)
Other income and Hip g A R B2
expenses 8,064) (11,373 (5,306) (445) 3273) (5732 (16,643)  (17,550)
Income tax expense IRCE A - (38) - - - - - (38)
(Loss)/profit for the year ~ FE R (E518),/ % F (5,629) (1,634) 213 (443) (3,442) (5,613) (8,858) (7,690)
Assets BE
Reportable segment ME2RHHEE
assets 11,319 19,010 93,628 645 181,815 59,470 286,762 79,125
Liabilities &f&
Reportable segment AE2/HHEE
liabilities 1,683 3,835 50 - 428 213 2,161 4,048
Other segment Hi &R
information
Additions to property, REWE - BEK
plant and equipment B 753 1,306 41 43 - 569 794 1,918
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e B % Rk Y 5 (48D

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in
the current year (2014 nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
profit or loss represents the profit or loss earnmed by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs
including directors’ emoluments, investment and other income,
other gains and losses, and income tax expenses. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Information about major customers

The Group’s revenue from customers which accounted for 10%

HE2015F12A31BILFE

9. 7HER @

(i)

(ii)

THER BEERER

NEEHRZDBREBINATFR
EA e - AFEIE S IR
E(2014F : &) -

& BB E & R BOR B KT S AT A
ZASEGFBORAR - 2 8EM
BB IER O BB IRE 2 A K&
B AR EPRAEEKRA(RRE
EEHM REMEMUWA - A
W RBIEARAFHRAZ) -
TRAETELERREZRMANDE
BRRFEDBRENEIE -

EREIEEFMESH
15 1t A o T 48 M 25 10% 3R B L 8

or more of the Group’s total revenue are as follows: EEHMAEBRWEMT :
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Customer A Z2BEA 4,149 19,275
Customer B ZF5B 6,958 8,266
Customer C BEC N/ATE A 8,334
11,107 35,875

Note: Pt E -

N/A: not applicable, as the corresponding figure did not contribute over
10% of the total revenue of the Group

TER:TEA ERAEBHRTIAS
BAAREE AU 10% A +
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B SRR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. PHER @
(i) Information about major customers (Continued) (i) EBEEEEFNEHNm

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location of
the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods or services.
The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on
the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment. The Group’s revenue from external customers
and information about its non-current assets by geographical

AEENEBUNEE - EPHM

iﬂiﬁ)’ﬂ?&ﬁ@ﬁ B BT 72 1 T E

A B R B AR © B
% BELREBNES FRDEE
MEUEIREEENERI

BME AKEREEMENGES

DTREIAREFPHKERBERE

location of the assets are set out below: FRBEEMNERDOT :
(i) Revenue from external customers (i) REHMABEFHAWE
2015 2014
2015%F 20144
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (FE ) 10,436 5,946
The People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”), FEARLRMBE([FRE]) -
excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan TEEEEREE 16,815 40,018
Korea 8 [ 659 1,031
Taiwan = 295 574
USA EYe - 1,188
Russia K 78 Hr 1,036 3,083
Others HAth 3 296
29,244 52,136
(iv) Non-current assets (other than loan (ivy kERBEE(EKREXRBR
receivables) M)
2015 2014
2015F 20144
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHx FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) E5(FEEH) 607 680
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong FE TEEEAERAE
and Taiwan 296 397
Taiwan & 2,200 2,687
3,103 3,764
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

10. FIEHEAX
@ weEEERkAMEEKS

profit or loss and other comprehensive RAPPBIEIE
income represents:
2015 2014
2015F 20144
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNERRIE — B ANEH
Current year NEE — _
Deferred tax expense (note 27(a)) IE G TR B R X (M E27(a) - (38)
= (38)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2015. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made since the
Group has no estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: nil).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiary is 25%. No provision for EIT is made since the
PRC subsidiary has no estimated assessable profits for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

#H =2015F12A318 It & &
BEENESBRZGHTERB RGN 2
16.5% (20144 : 16.5%) & & - M
RAEBREZE2015F12A31 H
HEETEEETMGTERMN
A (20145 - ) - WA B EH B
RSB VE H A -

BEFBRCEMSHR(EEMSE
M ERTEMSTEBERIEH -
FEMEREZHER25% - AR
BB B A R R B E2015F 12 B
TR IEFEWEEE T EE
RBLE A M ERR D ESRE
H B (20144 - F) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

T %5 ¥ Ak M 5 (48)

n'lT\ = /H

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FIBH B X @

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BEBRAHEFENBIIERN
loss before income tax at applicable tax TRBRITESHAIEEYE
rates: mE

2015 2014
2015F 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHxT T T
Loss before income tax B P 15 4 A1 5 18 8,858 7,652
Tax at applicable income tax rate RERMSHRETENTIE 1,502 1,284
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A E M = AR 8
for tax purpose Misg2 (234) (1,010)
Tax effect of income not taxable BIEM 5 BARTIAL
for tax purpose MG EE 2 44
Deferred tax assets not recognised RIERELETREEE (1,305) (356)
Utilization of tax losses previously BRAMAERZRBGEIR
not recognised 35 —
Income tax expense Frisfif = = (38)
11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FREE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging: FABECD B
2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
(a) Staff cost (a) EIRA
Staff costs including director’ emoluments PREFTWEHE THRA
— Salaries, bonus and benefits in kind —FHe LAREMEF 10,272 8,707
— Staff welfare - ;E T&F 58 4
— Contributions to retirement benefit RIRAE A ET B R
scheme 329 260
10,659 9,038
(b) Other items (b) Et1ER
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 B % B
— audit services — FBFTR 720 380
— other services — H AR 60 200
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRIEARYNFESEK A
expenses (Note 18) (Mfx18) 20,024 40,883
Legal and professional fees including FEREXER (BEZEAM
auditors’ remuneration — other services B & — E b R 75) 1,611 2,430
Design and development costs BE ko %N 369 2,798
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RRMEE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE20156F12A31BILEE

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND

12.EERAEEEEHFMAL
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS X

HY B =

(@) EE®M e

TXHRMMAEEHFHEI2HE
RERERARF RENE QA
MEBHREER AEERAQ
AEEXMNHNMESHBNT

(@) Remuneration of Directors

All Directors’” emoluments shown below were mainly for the
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Details of emoluments paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company are as follow:

Year ended 31 December 2015
HZ2015F12A31ALLEE
Employer’s
contributions

Other to Mandatory

Director’s benefits Provident
Name of Director fee Salary (Note xi) Fund Total

HtbEA REMEAES
BEEps Exwme e (Bt &£ xi) EEREEN &t
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
b =E THER THER THET THET THERT
ZHANG Qing RE [ - 1,195 - 18 1,213
LI Kwei Chung = i - 220 77 6 303
SUNG Tak Wing Leo FNEES il - 1,195 - 18 1,213
LIU Kam Lung BéE v 120 - - - 120
YE Jian EER v 120 - - - 120
CHAN Sun Kwong =S4 vi 48 - - - 48
CHEUNG ChiMan Dennis 5k & X vii 96 - - - 96
KO Yin Wai SEE vii 120 - - - 120
CHIU Yu Wang Fi=Di @/ iX 120 - - - 120
Total = 624 2,610 77 42 3,353
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(@) Remuneration of Directors (Continued)

12.EENTEBREHFHMAL
B B £ )
(@ EEME @

Year ended 31 December 2014
HE2014F12A31BIEFE

Employer’s

contributions

Other  to Mandatory

Name of Director Director’s benefits Provident
fee Salary (Note xi) Fund Total

Hibighl ‘Bt ES
BENE BE0EE e (P 5Exi) EEHR &t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET TET FET TET FAT
ZHANG Qing RE i - 423 - 9 432
LEE Cheung Ming =R X - 360 - 8 368
LI Kwei Chung THER i — 811 66 17 894
SUNG Tak Wing Leo KRG i 18 686 — 14 718
LIU Kam Lung B iv 25 625 - 14 664
YE Jian ER v 42 - — - 42
CHAN Sun Kwong BR= vi 138 - - - 138
KO Yin Wai =SEE vii 115 - - - 115
CHIU Yu Wang iR 7N iX 102 — — - 102
Total At 440 2,905 66 62 3,473

Notes:

Vi

i

viii

Xi

appointed as executive director and Chairman on 1 July 2014

retired as Chief Executive Officer and executive director on 30 April
2015

executive director and promoted from Chief Financial Officer to
Chief Executive Officer on 30 April 2015

re-designated from executive director to non-executive director on
16 October 2014

appointed as non-executive director on 26 August 2014

retired as independent non-executive director on 30 April 2015
appointed as independent non-executive director on 30 April 2015
independent non-executive director

appointed as independent non-executive director on 17 February
2014

resigned as executive director and Chairman on 1 July 2014

Other benefits include quarter, car rental allowance and leave pay.
All other benefits were paid in cash.
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R2014F7A1B EZET BATT
EERER
R201544 30 BHET &R
ERTES
$MITEE MR 20159F4 A30H A
B RESE T BITHAH
R2014F10A16H A TTE =
FATRIENTES
R2014F8 H26 B EZ T A IEH
TE=E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e RRMEE (E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE20156F12A31BILEE

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND 12.EERTEEEHFMAL
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) B <€ =)

EEBRSHFMA LTINS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three
directors (2014 three) of the Company, one of the director retired
on 30 April 2015, of which is also one of the highest paid
individual during the vyear, details of whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2014: two) highest paid individuals for the year
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration (b)

AEENAEESTMALTEF
BREARE =ZAQ014F: =4)
EE HEHP—HKREFER2015F4A
HEME HMAFAZSFHMHA
Tz— HEFMHEBIALXERE
oo B =2015%F k2014412 A 31
HIEFEH TMA(2014F - f4)
BESHFMATHHEMOT

2015 2014
20155 20144
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREYET
in kind 1,726 1,618
Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund Bl RAES HR 41 34
1,767 1,552

The emoluments of the 2 (2014: 2) individuals with the highest
emoluments are all within Nil to HK$1,000,000.

None of emoluments has been paid to these individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the financial year (2014: Nil). In addition,
none of the directors of the Company has waived any
emoluments during the year.

2% (20145F 1 2% ) &= H Bl A
T &8 B N F =8 7T =1,000,000
T e

MRFERERN  REBALER Ll A
TN ERBBMALRLE
A A 55 B B HY 52 B 3K 1F /S BE B
B H 18 (2014 4F - ) o b oN - BB
ARAREENFAREEMME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B SRR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

13. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company includes
a loss of approximately HK$3,244,000 (2014: HK$6,028,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (see
note 28b).

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividends was declared or paid during the year ended 31 December
2015 (2014: Nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share are based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

13.

14.

15.

RKRAREREABEER

AARBEEANELREBEBEEERA
AR IS 3R K BRI 2§58 493,244,000
7T (20144 : 6,028,000 7T ) (55 2 B K}
£¥28b) °

iz B

HZE2015F12A31HILFE  WET K
AT EM R E (20145 F)

BRER
@ BREXER

BREABENREARRES
ABEBARFACSETEBR
MEFHEBGE-

(Restated)

(geE))

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FHET

Loss B8

Loss attributable to owners of the Company AN A &l #E B A fE1LH E 18 (8,858) (7,690)

Number of shares (thousands)

ROEE (FR)
Shares gy
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — 4F A & 3% 17 & 3@ A% A% 15 H0#
in issue during the year T B 473,976 341,464

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in the
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for both years has
been retrospectively adjusted for the open offer of 3 offer shares
for every 1 share held effected on 17 December 2015.

(b) Diluted loss per share

The Group did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares
during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BMERKE

Computer Office Motor Furniture Leasehold
Equipment Instruments Equipment Vehicle and Fixture Improvement Total
ERE IE BAERB RE BREREE HEPELE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET FET FET
Cost A
At 1 January 2014 W2014%1 818 290 9,465 12 166 21 150 10,104
Additions through acquisition FHRWE-—EHEBAF
of a subsidiary NE 12 — 7 - — — 19
Additions NE 131 1,280 21 - 90 396 1,918
Disposal & (18) (31) - (166) - - (215)
At 31 December 2014 H2014%12 831 B kR #
and 1 January 2015 20151 A1H 415 10,714 40 — 11 546 11,826
Additions NE 79 702 13 — — — 794
Disposal He (79 @ - — - — (81)
At 31 December 2015 201512 431 H 415 11,414 53 - 111 546 12,639
Accumulated depreciation Aot E
At 1 January 2014 R20145F1 A1 8 205 6,092 12 166 13 150 6,638
Addition through acquiisition FERKE-EHERA
of a subsidiary NE 4 - 1 - - — 5
Charge for the year FRAXH 78 1,414 3 - 16 114 1,625
Written back on disposals W& (18) 22) - (166) - - (206)
At 31 December 2014 H2014F12 A31H Rk
and 1 January 2015 20151718 269 7,484 16 — 29 264 8,062
Charge for the year FAXH 75 1,205 10 - 21 138 1,449
Written back on disposals R ERERD (75) — - - - — (75)
At 31 December 2015 H2015%12A31H 269 8,689 26 — 50 402 9,436
Net book value BRE R E
At 31 December 2015 2015412 4318 146 2,725 27 — 61 144 3,103
At 31 December 2014 20145124318 146 3,230 24 — 82 282 3,764
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 12318 FFE

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. R B ARl 2
MR2015F 12 318 » "R AR 5 KB
N HREEENBEREZN Z5WE
NE AL ELE  BHBEFBEHI W

At as 31 December 2015, the Company had direct or indirect interest
in the following subsidiaries, all of which are private companies,
particulars of which are set out below:

T
Proportion of ownership interest
BEEEZLH
Place of Group’s Interest
Incorporation Particulars of Issued Effective Held by the  Held by a Principal
Name of Company and Operation Capital/Registered Capital Interest Company Subsidiary Activities
AMRIE EBRITRAEM A&EE HEAXE H-BEHE
DRAE Fa-§iip EAFHE EREE RFEEE LRARE TEEHR
Directly held
BEERE
Megalogic Business Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% — Investment
Islands holding
RERAHS 1REAEIETHEBR 100% 100% - REER
Megalogic Investment Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% — Investment
Islands holding
EBRAHE IREEIETHLBK 100% 100% - REER
Minilogic Investment Limited British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% — Investment
Islands holding
ABRABS 1RAEIETHETBR 100% 100% - RERR
Indirectly held
BERSE
Easy Loan Finance Limited Hong Kong 80,000,000 ordinary share 100% - 100% Money lending
of HK$1
HERUBHERAR BB 80,000,000 [ {& 178 7T ) 100% - 100% Hf&
L
MiniLogic Device Corporation Hong Kong 7,651,200 ordinary share 100% - 100% Design,
Limited (“MiniLogic HK”") of HK$1 development
and sales of
ICs
MEBHERDF BB 7,651,200 AR I B 178 7L &9 100% - 100% &t FHER
(MalEMEE] EER HEEMK
Megalogic China Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% - 100% Investment
Development Limited holding
REIFEERBRAA Bt 1REENE T L ER 100% - 100% 1% & 2%
KBEREELEERERAA PRC Registered capital 100% - 100% Inactive
HKS$1 million
B AMERBEET 100% - 100% EmE%

Annual Report 2015
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e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

18. INVENTORIES 18. &

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Raw materials R E 762 1,032
Work in progress TR 1,929 3,814
Finished goods X 4,327 4,331
7,018 9,177

Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete VS B E EBE

inventories (1,866) (691)

5,152 8,486

19

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group made a provision
of HK$1,175,000 for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (2014:
HK$293,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group wrote down its

inventories by HK$295,000 for scrapped inventories. No such inventory
write-downs recognised during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The above amounts were included in “cost of inventories recognised as
an expense” for the respective years.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

HZE2015F12A31HIEFE  KEEE
O SE I iR R 7 & 51,175,00008 JT
(20144 : 293,000/ 7T) °

HZE2014F12A31HILFE  AEEH
R EE 17 & MU H 77 5295,0008 T - B 2
2015F 12 A1 HIL FE B EER A R
FEMOR -

PREBAABZFENBARAAIZ
TFERA] -

19. BIRE 5 IR

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Trade receivables EUE 5 RN 2,191 3,868
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 12318 FFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 1. ERE B R @

(@) FRiR 2 HT

(@) Ageing analysis

The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from “cash on
delivery” to 90 days to its trade customers as at 31 December
2015 and 2014. The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables at the end of each reporting period, presented based
on the invoice date:

R20154%F K2014F12 A31H » &
SEREAEBESEFPIRHEIER
NHIEZEQOEHNEER - ATER
EREMARLEZAHIINE
NESERFNER DT

2015 2014
20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAETT

0-30 days 0-30H 1,006 1,936
31-60 days 31-60 H 604 919
61-90 days 61-90 H 518 977
More than 90 days @0 H 63 36
2,191 3,868

Amounts included in trade receivables at 31 December 2015 and
2014 related to both IC sold and services performed under ASIC
services contracts and invoiced to those customers.

The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate
credit checks on potential customers before granting credit. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties. The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its
counterparties are monitored by management. The maximum
credit risk of such financial assets is represented by the carrying
value of asset.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits
attributed to customers are reviewed by the management
regularly. In determining recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end
of the reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. B E 5 BR X )

(b) I FIREZEWE S RN

(b) Trade receivables that are not impaired

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors
with approximately aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,299,000
and HK$2,279,000 which are past due as at 2015 and 2014
respectively for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables which are
past due but not impaired is as follows:

AREEEWRE SRR P
ERMEMAS X4 A1,299,000/% 7T
2,279,000/ T 0 FE M R IE - 2%
RIE DD B R 20154F 20144 i
B AR E AR AREREEED
BE - AEBEVENZSERTE
R IF o

AEBE®C B HERRENEK
BIEFREDITMT

2015 2014

2015 2014 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

0-30 days 0-30H 140 348
31-60 days 31-60 H 578 919
61-90 days 61-90 H 518 977
More than 90 days @0 H 63 35
1,299 2,279

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality up to the date of
this report and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

278 BB KR (E B B E 5 IR K
BT HEIY MRS E T B
EFEMR REAERKR BEE
RRBAFHRERE REAZH
EAREAMEREERLEEX
R AR BAR AT 2 B
[B] o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HE2015F12A31BILEE

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. ERE X

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Loan to customers/a customer BEXRFZRERE/—REF 86,097 200
Accrued interest receivables W FEETF B 323 2
86,420 202

Analysed as: DT A
Non-current assets FEMBEE 6,101 -
Current assets mBEE 80,319 202
86,420 202

Loan receivables arise from the Group’s money lending business. They
are repayable according to repayment schedules, normally with
contractual maturity between 6 months and 12 years as at 31
December 2015 and 31 December 2014. Loans to customers bear
annual interest rate ranging from 12% to 24% as at 31 December 2015
(2014: 13.5%). The following is an ageing analysis of loan receivables at
the end of each reporting period, presented based on the remaining

period to contractual maturity date:

EWERAAEECHREEREE - R
2015512 A31 H 201412 831H &
BREEFHERET GOHE—K
NF6MEAE1249F - R2015F12A31 8 -
HMEFPREMNEFTEN T12%E24% 2
FERE B (2014F :135%) - LT BF
MEMBARZSR THHZEGNHHAEZ
Bl 2z IR B FER B D AT

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Within 1 year 14X 80,319 202
Over 1 year and up to 5 years HBiB1FE5F 2,427 —
Over 5 years BidsF 3,674 -
86,420 202

The above balances are neither past due nor impaired.

The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit
checks on potential customers before granting loan.

The Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its counterparties are
monitored by management. The maximum credit risk of such financial
assets is represented by the carrying value of asset. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit assessment
process to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines

credit limits.

In determining recoverability of a loan receivable, the Group considers
any change in credit quality of the loan receivable from the date of the
loan was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.
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21. TRADING SECURITIES

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

1. EGH%SH

2015 2014
20154 2014 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Listed equity securities at fair value BERARAFEFED
in Hong Kong LERAFSH = 3,810

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s and the
Company’s trading securities measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

NFEEBEK

TRINTAEBERARARHRE R KRR
REUEEFBEZEIRHFZATE
VDB RBEAMBRELANEISHRAF
EAEMRAT =R FERE - KA
FEFENBEZSERDEZ2ENTHE
HEMBBEZABREREZERE
JE -

E-RbHE EERAFE-ARBARE
(MRFERRBEERAEREED
BZARRHERE)HEZAFE

BE_MEE: EREZREABUEE
REZEINE Rz BERBARE) B
TRERERTABEGABRBTEZ
RNFE-FTABEEEARBERED S
BB ABUE -

FE-RHE: ERERTHBEGA
BEFTEZRAFE
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e EBRRMEE (B
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

21. TRADING SECURITIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

21. E S5 % F @)
NFEE R E

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2014
Categorised into

MA2014F12A31 B 2 AFEHEDES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F—& ot E=R

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAET FiET

Trading securities 25 3,810 — —
All the trading securities were disposed for the year ended 31 HZE2015F12A31BIFE - IBEH
December 2015 and the amount of approximately HK$64,000 reported BAHALEHE MERAIHEESHES
as “gain on disposal of trading securities” was recognised to profit or Wz | #764,0008 TR IBER BRI FE

loss in current year.

B 18 5 AR P RERR

The Group had no trading securities that are measured at fair value as MR2015F 128318  "EBEBELUQF

at 31 December 2015.

BHENERES -

£ +

22. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 22. RERFAMNRE
2015 2014
2015F 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Deposit for purchase of raw materials HERME ZES 629 798
Rental and utilities deposits for leases Moz He M KEERS 377 384
Prepayment for director’s quarter EEFEEENKIA = 160
Prepayment for legal and professional fees FERABEXEBERBNIOA 46 219
Others Hi 105 220
1,157 1,781
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F 1231 HIFFfE

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

24

25

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less which are held with financial
institutions and carry interest at prevailing market rates. The average
effective interest rates of the Group’s bank balances are 0.04% and
0.78% per annum, as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively.

23. BITHBRIR S

HITER LB ERERFRA S/
HWERDESEA=EASAT RAR
IMIGAHEFBEMEETR - RN20154F
N2014F12 A31H  AEBIETTHEHRD
FHERFFED R A0.04% 5% 0.78% °

2015 2014

2015 % 20144

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FAET

Fixed deposit with banks RITE B R = 25,035
Cash at bank and in hand RITEEFRS 188,739 32,179
188,739 57,214

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting period, is as follows:

24. BV E 5 R

AEERSHREHRRERTAHZIIW

ENEZRANBREITET

2015 2014

20154 20144

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

0-30 days 0-30H 579 1,159
31-60 days 31-60 H 134 943
61-90 days 61-90 H 215 —
928 2,102

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The other payables and accruals mainly represent accrued expenses,
deposit and receipt in advance from customers. As at 31 December
2015, the balance includes amount due to a former director of the
Company of HK$32,000 (2014: HK$192,000) which represents an
expense of the Group paid by the former director and is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

25. H th FE T & FE 5t X 18

Hib BN REFRBAETEREFTR

mekREEP KA -

R 2016 12 A 31

H &%BEENAAR—RESK
T832,0007% 7T (2014 4F : 192,000 7T ) -
ZREEZNESINOAEEER -
BEEE 2R WAREREE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in fund under the control of trustees.

The PRC subsidiary of the Group also participate in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (“the PRC scheme”) organised
by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities whereby
the PRC subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to the retirement benefit scheme. The Group has accrued
for the required contributions which are remitted to the respective local
government authorities when the contributions become due. The local
government authorities are responsible for the pension obligations
payable to the retired employees covered under the PRC Schemes.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes. The Group has no other material obligation for
payment of retirement benefits beyond the contributions as described

above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

(@)

(b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised:

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

)

B 7% Rk My 5 (&)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

(a)

HE2015F12A31BILFE

7. EZERIE

BRANEZEHEAEERE

& :

R a M SRR K RO E TR
HEE)/ABEEARBY UARER
FAMEBWT

Accelerated

tax Unused tax

depreciation losses Total
mEFHHE FBABK
wE Bia &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET FHET
Deferred tax arising from FFEENELZERE

At 1 January 2014 R2014F1A1H 547 (585) (38)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss R 1825 (5+ A), /K (19) 57 38

At 31 December 2014 and R2014F 12 A31 H X 20154
at 1 January 2015 1H1H 528 (528) —
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss R 18z (5t A) /1K (77) 7 -
At 31 December 2015 72015412 A31 A 451 (451) -

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has unused tax loss of
approximately HK$25,495,000 (2014: HK$13,017,000) available
for offset against future profits that may be carried forward
indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of HK$2,734,000 (2014: HK$3,205,000) of such tax loss. No
further deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
tax loss due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

(b)

ABANELEREEE

M2015F12 531 H » A& B # &k
B) F 2 B IH 5 18 4 /525,495,000 %8
7t (20144 : 13,017,000 7T ) * &
FA DA 3K 88 oK AR 0 ) S AT 4 IR HR A5
o REBEDRUHERBEHERR
2,734,000 7T (20144 : 3,205,000
B BEEHBEEE - AKRETE
B 2R T B SRR - B R BB E S
BRAFZELEHBEE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. I’k
(@) Share capital (@ K=&
Number
of shares  Nominal value
BRGOEE HE
‘000 HK$'000
T i THT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BROABTHNEER
Authorised: EIE
At 31 December 2015 and MR2015F12A831H K
31 December 2014 2014%12H831H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRAR:
At 1 January 2014 MR20149F1A1H 240,000 24,000
Issue of shares upon placing (note (i) fid & 217 31D (B RE() 48,000 4,800
At 31 December 2014 and MR2014F12A31H &
1 January 2015 201541418 288,000 28,800
Issue of shares upon placing (note (ii)) fid & 2% 17 B 0 (B 5 (i) 57,600 5,760
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer BEARBEEERITRNG
(note (iii)) (B 7 i) 1,036,800 103,680
At 31 December 2015 M2015F12H31H 1,382,400 138,240

(i)

On 24 September 2014, a total of 48,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each were issued by way of placing at
a placing price of HK$0.40 per placing share for cash
consideration of HK$19,200,000. The excess of the
placing price over the par value of the shares issued was
credited to the share premium account.

On 3 June 2015, a total of 57,600,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each were issued by way of placing at a placing
price of HK$0.34 per placing share for cash consideration
of HK$19,584,000. The excess of the placing price over
the par value of the shares issued was credited to the
share premium account.

126 Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

(i)

MR2014F9F24H » & R &)
FEBRREHNIETRE SR
POAOE TR EBETE
#48,000,000 % & X A 1E0.10
B LTEBRABRIIBEAR
819,200,000/ 7T - FL & BB
HEBTROEEMSSE
ARG HEER -

R2015%F6A3H AR A&
BREFNIZERES KM
0UEBTLHEEEERITAE R
57,600,000 8% & X F1 {5 0.1078
TR LR LABRIESNRE
19,584,000 7T ° fic & E i i
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(a) Share capital (Continued)

(i)

On 17 December 2015, a total of 1,036,800,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each were issued by way of an open
offer at the subscription price of HK$0.20 per offer share
on the basis of three offer shares for every one share held
on the record date, 24 November 2015. The net proceeds
from the open offer, after deducting relevant costs and
expenses, were approximately HK$199,342,000. The
excess of the subscription price over the par value of the
shares issued was credited to the share premium account.

(b) Movements in components of equity

(i)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 62 of
the consolidated financial statements.

Merger reserve arose as a result of the reorganization
taken place on 20 December 2011 which represents the
differences between the issued shares and share premium
of MiniLogic HK upon group reorganization and the nil-paid
issued of 380,000 shares of the Company which credited
as fully paid.

28. IR 7 (=)

HE2015F12A31BILFE

(@ B @

(iii)

(b) #&
(i)

R2015F 12 A17H & A
AEBAREEFRANIER
BESKRESRMH20%8 T
AR 72 8% B BRI (BN20154F 11
R24aB)BH B —KkHE
BoRBEERGOD ZEEER
77 & #£1,036,800,000 i% & P&
HBEIOE T EBR - A
FEEMBREBEFBEEN
BB AR HE)NAE
199,342,000 7T ° #8 ) B 8
TROEEzZREBEESED
FTARMDEER-

mAKEE

REE
ARERAFEREFOR
BLERAESHZIINGS
B 7% 9 % 562 F 0 & 2k
BHEA -

2011612 208 R E 42 i &
EMEHRERESEEEHE
WEAESHEENBEBETRD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R M (8)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) Movements in components of equity (Continued)

(i)  The Company
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

28. B 7 ()
(b) REz=4H K2 B )

(i

ZAN/NE|
AREGARETARE D
FORFREROE BRI
HARDZEIHR  ARAE
fIEl 12 25 AR B BR 0 IO AR R
VNEFRNEHFBOT

Retained
profits/
Share Share (accumulated
capital premium losses) Total
REEA
;& B3R E (R E8) &t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FHET FH&ET FHET
At 1 January 2014 H2014F1A1H 24,000 20,437 3,904 48,341
Loss for the year FREIE — — (6,028) (6,028)
Total comprehensive expense >HMIEE — - (6,028) (6,028)
Transactions with owner: HBEBAZRS
Issue of shares upon placing (note 28(a)(i)) B E BT R GD
(B 55 28(a)() 4,800 14,400 - 19,200
Expenses incurred in connection with the & A 3 17 1) 2=
issue of shares during the year =015 - (660) — (660)
4,800 13,840 — 18,640
At 31 December 2014 M2014F12 A31H
and 1 January 2015 K2015%F1 A1 H 28,800 34,277 (2,124) 60,953
Loss for the year FAER - = (3,244) (3,244)
Total comprehensive expense 2T Y B - - (3,244) (3,244)
Transactions with owner: BEEAZRS:
Issue of shares upon placing (note 28(a)(ii)) Bie & BT R 1D
(M 7% 28(a)(ii)) 5,760 13,824 - 19,584
Issue of shares pursuant to open offer (note 1R #5 /A f9 3% & 3%
28(a)ii)) TR (B =t
28(a)(ii)) 103,680 103,680 = 207,360
Expenses incurred in connection with the FRETRMHE
issue of shares during the year ERREX - (8,538) - (8,538)
109,440 108,966 - 218,406
At 31 December 2015 R2015612H831H 138,240 143,243 (5,368) 276,115
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c) Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and risk
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, issuance of new
shares as well as the raising of new debts.

R BB AR MR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HE2015F12A31BILFE

28. IR 7 (=)

(c)

EXRER
AEEERRARNBRREEE
BRBEGEEY MR- FHELE
BELEERRAEHARRT
e YNGR T

AEBENEARBEEARAHE
BEAREEZ(BEREHETRA
s R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e MBHmRMNEE (8

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

HZE2015F12A31BIFFEE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29. " A T 2 B & 4R R &

THE COMPANY
2015 2014
20154 20144
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3E FHET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MEE 225 403
Investment in subsidiaries RBRARIZEE 17 = -
Total non-current assets HIERBEE 225 403
Current assets REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries AN E @] 80,137 2,409
Loan receivables ElER 15,000 201
Trading securities B 5 &5 = 3,810
Deposits and prepayments e RIBN A 23 56
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIES 181,133 54,268
Total current assets BWREBEE 276,293 60,744
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accruals H b fE T N FE AT 318 403 194
Total current liability BREBAERE 403 194
Net current assets FREEE 275,890 60,550
Net assets FEE 276,115 60,953
Capital and reserves BEAXNGHE
Share capital A% A 28(a) 138,240 28,800
Reserves E 28(b)(ii) 137,875 32,153
Total equity A 276,115 60,953

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the

board of directors on 18 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

PFEHRRDN2016F3ABHKEEFTZ

£

ZHANG Qing SUNG Tak Wing Leo
RE REK
Director Director
BE EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

31

32

At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum lease

30.

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE

EHERE

RBEHRR RETARELLHEER

payments under non-cancellable operating lease in respect of leased EMHEMEZ BERKEREHMN R
properties are payable as follows: T

2015 2014

2015F 2014 4F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHER FHET

Within one year —F N 1,452 1,277

After one year but within five years —FRERBERFNA 852 1,026

2,304 2,303

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and a warehouse in Hong Kong. Lease
payments are fixed throughout the lease term agreed. None of the
leased includes contingent rentals.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any material capital commitments as at 31
December 2015 (2014: nil).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 16 May 2012 (“the Adoption Date”). Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years effective from 10
July 2012 of the scheme and will expire on 9 July 2022.

The purpose of the Share Options Scheme is to provide incentives to
the participants. The participants of the Share Option Scheme, as
absolutely determined by the Board, include:

(@  any employee (whether full time or part time employee, including
any executive directors) of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

31.

32.

REBENREIZHEASERELRE
BORAEBEMLAERNNES B
ENFDREHBENENEE - CHE
BETBREHEAES -

BREE

AEBR2015F12 A31H T BT R E KX
B ARFNE (2014 4F « &) -

BREE

KRR HR2012F5 168 ([#HR#4 H & )
H—aE R ([ -
BERT AE ST 8 201247 B10B #£10F
AW BE2022F7A9BEMR °

BREFSAZENARBES2EE B
B z2EE(MRHESTEERER
E) B

KEBFEMMKE QR KK E BT
BEEABREZEANER(XRER
BDZEAREE (THRE2BIFR
BE BREFHNTES):

(@
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B SRR R ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILEE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(c)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(9  any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area
of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Share
Option Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that
the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. However, the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company has been
obtained in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

33

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the
option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be
determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
options; or (i) the nominal value of a share.

The refreshment of the Share Option Scheme mandate limit was
approved at the annual general meeting held on 30 April 2015, based
on 288,000,000 shares in issue as at 30 April 2015, the Company was
allowed to grant further options under the Share Option Scheme of up
to a total of 28,800,000 shares, representing 10% of the Shares in
issue as at 30 April 2015 and representing 2.1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the date of this
annual report respectively, and representing 12.0% of the issued share
capital of the Company, as at the date of 2014 annual report.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled, expired or lapsed
since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and the refreshment of
the scheme mandate limit on 30 April 2015 and up to 31 December
2015 and there were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2015.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2015.

32.

33.

e R RMEE (E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HE2015F12A31BILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e EmERNE (B
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
HZE2015F12 A1 AILFE

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@)

(b)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 12(a) and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 12(b), is as follows:

4. BBEALTHE

(a)

FTEEBEASHHM
REBXTZEEEABNBE B
WK 12 B D I FARQA]
BEEMNSERE XK E120)
FEENETEaFEENS
EER (N

2015 2014
20154 20144
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Salary and other short term HFehHMEHESRH

employee benefits 4,413 4,489
Post employment benefits BB AR T 83 95
4,496 4,584

Loans to related parties (b) EFREEFNER

The following tables disclose the loan interest income and loans
advanced to related parties for the year ended 31 December
2015 and 31 December 2014:

TRETFEHZ2015F12A318 &
2014F12A31B It FEERAE
WA RTEMBERER:

2015 2014
2015 2014 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHET
Loan interest income from: RETHEFHEZRFE
N
— Key management personnel —TEZEEEBAB 644 -
— A substantial shareholder ——HBEERRE 1,085 -
Loans advanced to: BT TINETHER
— Key management personnel —FEEEAB 10,000 —
— A substantial shareholder ——RFERE 8,700 -

Loans advanced to related parties are repayable according to
repayment schedules, with contractual maturity within 6 months
and bear annual interest rates ranging from 12% to 24%. All loan
repayments from related parties were received during the year
ended 31 December 2015. They were neither past due nor
impaired.
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34.

35

36

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) Related party balance

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related parties
are set out in note 25.

(d) Applicability of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to connected transactions

None of above related party transactions falls under the definition
of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As a result of change of weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue under open offer, certain comparative figures have been adjusted
accordingly. In addition, certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIODS

On 5 February 2016 and 9 March 2016, the Group as the purchaser
and Mr. Chung Pui Nam, Roger as the vender and being an
independent third party of the Group entered into a letter of intent and
a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the proposed acquisition
of 55% of the issued share capital of Maximus Venture Holdings
Limited (the “Target Company”) for a consideration of an aggregate
sum of HK$27.5 million. The Target Company is principally engaged in
the total solutions for information security services, including security
assessment, consulting, testing, monitoring and training as well as
system integration services of information security business in Hong
Kong. As of the date of this annual report, the acquisition of the Target
Company has not been completed.

Details of the proposed acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 February 2016 and 9 March 2016 respectively.

AUTHORISATION OF ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2016.
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Summary of Five Year Financial Information

EFNBRENBSE

The following is a summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group A TN AR B MK EXVBERRLERE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited &% S EEr AEEBEREMKERE

financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate: CESE BENAEWME:
RESULTS EiE
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
20154 20144 20134 20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT BT FHET FHET FHT
Revenue g 29,244 52,136 42,769 31,281 59,134
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(k518) Yo -v (8,858) (7,690) (6,090) (17,354) 10,847
(Loss)/earnings per share R(Ei8) BT
(HK cents) (Restated) OB (& 5) (1.87) (2.25) 2.11) (6.51) 5.36
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
M12831H
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
20154 20144 20134 20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT FET FHET T
Total assets BEE 286,762 79,125 69,340 64,090 46,842
Total liabilities FEN=Ri 2,161 4,048 5,217 3,612 3,332
Net assets BEFE 284,601 75,077 64,123 60,478 43,510
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